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                                     PART I 
 
ITEM 1. BUSINESS 
 
INTRODUCTION 
 
        We are a leading provider of advanced broadband digital satellite 
communications and other wireless networking and signal processing equipment and 
services. Based on our extensive experience in complex defense communications 
systems, we have developed the capability to design and implement innovative 
communications solutions which enhance bandwidth utilization by applying our 
sophisticated networking and digital signal processing techniques. On April 25, 
2000, we completed the acquisition of the satellite networks business ("the 
Satellite Networks Business") of Scientific-Atlanta, Inc., which will allow us 
to accelerate significantly the growth of our commercial business. For a more 
detailed discussion of the acquisition, see "--Acquisition of the Satellite 
Networks Business" below. To date, we have achieved 14 consecutive years of 
internally generated revenue growth and 13 consecutive years of profitability. 
Our goal is to leverage our advanced technology and capabilities to capture a 
significant share of the global satellite communications services and equipment 
segment of the high-growth broadband communications market. 
 
        Our internal growth to date has been driven largely by our success in 
meeting the need for advanced communications products for the U.S. military. By 
developing cost-effective communications products incorporating our advanced 
technologies we have continued to grow the markets for our defense products and 
services in an environment of shrinking defense budgets. Our current defense 
products include our UHF DAMA satellite communications products consisting of 
modems, terminals and network control systems, our advanced multifunction 
information distribution system, or MIDS, product line, and our simulation and 
test equipment which allows the testing of sophisticated airborne radio 
equipment without expensive flight exercises. The MIDS terminal operates as part 
of the Link-16 line-of-sight tactical radio system that enables real time data 
networking among ground and airborne military users providing an electronic 
overview of the battlefield. We were recently selected by the U.S. government as 
a new Link-16 terminal contractor and one of only three current U.S. government 
certified manufacturers of Link-16 MIDS terminals. 
 
        We have been increasing our focus in recent years on offering satellite 
based communications products to address commercial market needs. Our commercial 
business has grown from approximately 5% of our revenues in fiscal year 1999 to 
approximately 24.2% of our revenues in fiscal year 2000. Based on our DAMA 
technology and systems integration experience, we have recently won several 
important projects, including our $36 million contract with Science Applications 
International Corporation (SAIC) to provide two-way broadband on demand services 
in the oil field industry and our $6.9 million contract with Star Cruises 
Management, Ltd. to outfit its entire ship fleet for mobile broadband and 
telephony. To date, our principal commercial offerings have been our StarWire 
DAMA-based VSAT terminals, network control systems, and related network 
integration and network services. StarWire utilizes Internet Protocol circuits 
on a demand basis to provide high-speed data, video, voice and fax 
communications. 
 
ACQUISITION OF THE SATELLITE NETWORKS BUSINESS 
 
        On April 25, 2000, we completed the acquisition of the Satellite 
Networks Business from Scientific-Atlanta. The aggregate purchase price 
(including post-closing adjustments) for the Satellite Networks Business was 
approximately $60 million in cash plus warrants to purchase 50,000 shares of our 
common stock. We believe our acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business will 
give us the scale and scope to become a larger player in the market for 
broadband commercial satellite communications and services. The recent 
acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business, which is also a significant 
DAMA-based VSAT vendor, will further strengthen our position in the DAMA 
marketplace. The Satellite Networks Business provides additional product lines 
addressing the non-DAMA VSAT market, the gateway market, the asset tracking and 
meter reading market, and the telemetry and antenna systems market. In addition, 
the Satellite Networks Business brings us a larger and more experienced 
commercial sales force, a significant customer base, additional research 
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and development and engineering capabilities. Our plan is to rapidly integrate 
our existing commercial activities with those of the Satellite Networks Business 
to form a new division named ViaSat Satellite Networks and to move the 
headquarters of our commercial business to the Satellite Networks Business 
facilities in Norcross, Georgia. On a combined basis, we expect that our 
commercial satellite business will represent over half of our total revenues. 
 
        The Satellite Networks Business currently consists of the following four 
business units: 
 
        SATELLITE TELECOMMUNICATIONS. The satellite telecommunications unit 
designs, manufactures and markets two primary satellite VSAT terminal products, 
SkyRelay and Skylinx. This business unit is a large supplier of VSAT terminals 
in the satellite communications market. In addition to selling satellite 
networking equipment, the satellite telecommunications unit also produces 
network control systems and provides communications services, such as network 
operations, monitoring and control to customers in North America through its 
network operations center. 
 
        COMMUNICATIONS AND TRACKING SYSTEMS. The communications and tracking 
systems unit is a leader in developing and deploying high performance, 
state-of-the-art antenna and tracking systems that perform tracking, telemetry 
and command functions in the L, S, X, Ku, and Ka-band frequency spectrums. 
Typical products include remote sensing data reception for polar orbiting 
satellites, advanced gateways for orbiting and geostationary satellites and 
telemetry systems for tracking moving targets, such as satellites and aircraft. 
 
        DATA TRACKING COMMUNICATORS. The data tracking communicators unit 
designs, manufactures and markets terminals and services that work with low 
earth orbit satellite systems, such as the ORBCOMM satellite system, to provide 
global two-way data messaging services. Fixed-site terminals support 
applications including remote automated meter reading, and monitoring and 
controlling of electric utility distribution networks. Low-cost mobile terminals 
support automated vehicle location systems that track and monitor the status of 
remote vehicles such as trucks, trailers and railway locomotives. 
 
        ANTENNA MANUFACTURING. The antenna manufacturing business unit designs 
and manufactures a broad line of antenna products that range in diameter from 
1.8 meters to 18 meters. The highly complex antennas produced by the antenna 
manufacturing unit are integrated into other networking products. 
 
        In connection with the acquisition, we also entered into various other 
agreements with Scientific-Atlanta at the closing. These agreements include: (1) 
a services agreement under which Scientific-Atlanta will provide computer and 
office support as well as reimburse us for transition expenses up to $2.0 
million; (2) a manufacturing agreement under which Scientific-Atlanta will 
retain a substantial portion of the Satellite Networks Business' inventory to 
manufacture a specified amount of products for us at a 30% discount to 
Scientific-Atlanta's standard cost for a period of six months, at the end of 
which we will purchase the remaining inventory from Scientific-Atlanta; (3) 
another manufacturing agreement under which Scientific-Atlanta will purchase up 
to $4.0 million of antenna products from us over a one year term; (4) a study 
contract under which Scientific-Atlanta will pay us $3.5 million to conduct a 
technology suitability study; and (5) leases for three facilities, each for an 
initial term of two years with options to extend up to five years. 
 
THE VIASAT ADVANTAGE 
 
        LEADING INDUSTRY POSITION. We have a leading position in certain 
segments of the advanced communications network industry, including our 
leadership in DAMA and Link-16 MIDS businesses. More recently, some of our 
largest contracts have related to the provision of broadband equipment and 
services to commercial customers utilizing existing satellites. The recent 
acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business will increase our presence in the 
satellite communications ground segment and services business. We believe that 
our leadership position in the development of advanced technologies and the 
provision of broadband equipment and services provides us with a competitive 
advantage in developing 
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and enhancing our products and services to capture a significant portion of the 
emerging high growth broadband communications market. 
 
        LEADING TECHNOLOGY INNOVATOR. We are a leading provider of innovative 
and advanced communications network products and services. We have achieved this 
leadership through our expertise in applying emerging technologies to satellite 
networks as well as developing entirely new technologies. To maintain our 
technological edge we have over 300 engineers focusing on the research, design 
and development of new and enhanced communications network technologies and 
techniques. Because we provide our engineers with the opportunity to continually 
work with and develop state of the art technologies, we have been successful in 
hiring and retaining highly-qualified engineers. 
 
        EXPERIENCED MANAGEMENT TEAM. We have a strong and experienced management 
team, which has overseen our profitable internally-generated growth for more 
than a decade. Prior to joining us, several members of our management team have 
had experience in successfully acquiring and integrating advanced technology 
businesses. Mark D. Dankberg, a co-founder of ViaSat and a leader in satellite 
systems solutions and development, has been our President, Chief Executive 
Officer and Chairman since our inception in 1986. Each of the other two founders 
of ViaSat, Mark J. Miller, Vice President and Chief Technical Officer, and 
Steven R. Hart, Vice President-Engineering and Chief Technical Officer, continue 
to serve as integral members of our management team. In addition, the remainder 
of our senior management team has significant long-term experience in the 
satellite communications industry. 
 
        HIGH QUALITY AND EFFICIENT MANUFACTURING PROCESSES. We believe that our 
ability to deliver high-quality, low-cost products through our manufacturing 
processes has been a key factor in our success in attracting and retaining 
customers. We utilize a range of contract manufacturers to maintain low-cost 
products and to support rapid increases in the volume of units. By using 
contract manufacturers for a large portion of our manufacturing, we are able to 
take advantage of the contract manufacturers' high-volume purchasing power, 
advanced manufacturing equipment, and highly-trained workforce. We also maintain 
the internal capability to conduct limited manufacturing for small volume 
productions, final assembly, integration and testing. As part of our 
manufacturing accomplishments, we have for the past three years maintained ISO 
9000 certification for our product development, manufacturing and support 
services. As further recognition of our manufacturing success, Lockheed Martin 
Corporation recently honored us with a Star Supplier award for continued product 
quality and delivery. We were one of the four suppliers to receive this award 
among 65,000 of Lockheed Martin's suppliers. 
 
STRATEGY 
 
        Our objective is to leverage our advanced technology and capabilities to 
capture a significant share of the global satellite services and equipment 
segment of the high growth broadband communications market, as well as to 
maintain a leadership position in developing and supplying DAMA-based products 
to the government market. To implement this strategy, we intend to: 
 
        CAPITALIZE ON OUR EXISTING TECHNOLOGY LEADERSHIP IN NEW AND EMERGING 
HIGH GROWTH COMMUNICATIONS MARKETS. We believe that the global satellite 
communications services and equipment segment of the high-growth broadband 
communications market presents a number of attractive opportunities to apply our 
advanced technologies and capabilities. We plan to develop new products and 
enhance existing products to capture a significant share of this anticipated 
growth opportunity. As part of our strategy to penetrate the broadband 
communications market, we intend to significantly expand our activity as a 
network service provider. As a result of the recent acquisition of the Satellite 
Networks Business, we have significantly increased our ability to offer our 
customers satellite bandwidth, installation of network equipment, on-line 
network monitoring and network maintenance. 
 
        MAINTAIN AND ENHANCE OUR TECHNOLOGY LEADERSHIP POSITION. We are a leader 
in the development of advanced broadband digital satellite and other wireless 
technologies. We continually strive to improve our technology by meeting complex 
network design needs for customers and by devoting significant resources to 
research, design and development efforts in emerging markets. In order to 
enhance our technology 
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leadership position we intend to leverage the experience of our skilled 
research, design and engineering team to develop new and enhanced satellite 
products and applications. We also intend to devote additional funds, consisting 
partially from the cost-savings associated with eliminating duplicative 
research, design and development efforts between us and the Satellite Networks 
Business, to further strengthen our technological expertise. 
 
        PROVIDE SUPERIOR CUSTOMER VALUE BY DESIGNING ADVANCED SYSTEMS AND 
LOWERING THE TOTAL COST OF NETWORK OWNERSHIP. We plan to continue to provide our 
customers superior value by offering network solutions with the lowest total 
cost of ownership, considering factors such as equipment purchase cost, cost of 
satellite bandwidth, delivery schedules and installation and maintenance costs. 
With the recent emergence of broadband networks where the cost of bandwidth 
represents a higher proportion of the overall network cost, products that are 
based on technologies which increase the efficient use of bandwidth, such as 
DAMA and PCMA, offer a means to provide additional customer value. We intend to 
develop new products and enhance existing products, primarily based on our DAMA 
technology, to offer customers a cost-effective two-way broadband solution. 
 
        EMPHASIZE STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIPS TO ACCELERATE MARKET PENETRATION. We 
intend to establish relationships with companies whose financial, marketing, 
operational or technological resources can accelerate the introduction of new 
technologies and the penetration of new markets. We are seeking to develop 
strategic relationships with satellite manufacturers, satellite network 
equipment manufacturers, high-volume consumer product manufacturers and 
distributors, systems integrators and installers, ground-based network equipment 
manufacturers, satellite operators, and satellite network service providers 
through teaming arrangements, joint ventures and equity investments. Large, 
complex network systems typically involve partnering or teaming arrangements as 
a means to compete successfully for and implement complete network systems. As a 
leader of innovative network designs and communications solutions, we believe we 
are an attractive partner for other companies in the satellite communications 
market. 
 
        MAINTAIN OUR HISTORICAL EMPHASIS ON OPERATIONAL EFFICIENCY AND FINANCIAL 
PERFORMANCE. We have maintained a strong emphasis on operational efficiency and 
financial performance. We believe that operational focus is essential to our 
continuing success in providing advanced communications network solutions. In 
order to continue this performance, we devote significant time and resources to 
key components of our business, such as our manufacturing processes, design 
systems, customer relationships, research and development efforts, and the 
expansion of our markets. We expect our strong emphasis on operational 
efficiency and financial performance to be a key factor in successfully 
integrating the Satellite Networks Business. 
 
TECHNOLOGY 
 
        We develop innovative technologies aimed at rapidly evolving 
communications markets. Our development efforts focus on enhancing existing 
communications technologies and developing new technologies to increase the 
efficiency of our communications products. We integrate advanced signal 
processing, networking and multiple access techniques into our networks to 
increase the efficiency of satellite resources and to support more users with a 
given amount of bandwidth. 
 
        Since no single technology is optimal for all applications, we believe 
it is important to maintain expertise in a broad range of communications 
technologies. We excel at determining and designing the optimal technologies for 
a specific network use and then integrating those technologies with our 
products. Our technology development efforts have led to the successful 
introduction of a number of advanced digital communications products ranging 
from our innovative commercial satellite networks to our military Link-16 MIDS 
products. 
 
        As a result of our technological expertise, we have developed numerous 
communications products based on DAMA technology. DAMA technology enables 
efficient utilization of satellite resources by allowing users to share 
bandwidth based on their changing needs. DAMA network subscribers only access 
 
                                       4 



   8 
 
a communications link for the duration of the transmission. The terminated 
communication link is then made available for use by other subscribers in the 
DAMA network. In addition, DAMA technology allows the development of networks 
providing unrestricted direct connectivity among users. 
 
        DAMA-based networks provide two primary communications solutions: 
switching services and access for network users. DAMA satellite networks 
essentially enable the satellite to act as a "switch in the sky." An originator 
of a communication can use a DAMA-based network to be connected or switched 
directly to the desired destination either through a single hop to a 
ground-based gateway where the signal is then routed through the ground-based 
network or through a single hop point-to-point connection between terminals in 
the network. In the latter case, the signal is switched directly to the end user 
by the satellite through the use of an Internet Protocol router embedded in our 
network control products. 
 
        Mesh networks based on DAMA technology are particularly advantageous 
where both in-bound and out-bound, point-to-point transmission at high data 
rates are needed since traditional non-DAMA networks are capable of providing 
high data rates in only one direction. The optimal application for DAMA mesh 
networks are networks comprised of a large number of users communicating at high 
data rates with other users, such as corporate and government networks or 
Intranets. 
 
        We have also developed advanced satellite networks incorporating our 
advanced technology using "hub and spoke" architectures. These networks require 
all transmissions to be routed through a central ground-based hub location and 
are most useful for communications from remote locations to a central network 
location. These networks require two satellite transmissions, or hops, for 
communication from one remote user to another user. 
 
        Recently, we developed our patented PCMA technology which represents a 
fundamentally new technique for two-way satellite communications. PCMA 
technology is a key example of our advanced signal processing and multiple 
access techniques. PCMA technology enables two satellite terminals to use the 
same bandwidth at the same time, enabling satellite networks to support up to 
twice as many users or double the traffic on a given satellite resource. For 
users of the same bandwidth, the satellite communications signal represents an 
aggregate of the signal sent to the other user and the signal received from the 
other user. PCMA technology permits each user receiving the combined signal to 
delete the signal that the user sent, leaving only the signal intended to be 
received. The separation and deletion of the unwanted portion of the signals 
takes place on the ground by the terminal and does not interfere with the 
satellite transmission. We have recently developed prototypes and models for the 
integration and testing of the PCMA technology and anticipate offering products 
using our PCMA technology in the near future. 
 
COMMERCIAL MARKETS 
 
MARKET OPPORTUNITY 
 
        The introduction of satellite communications technology in the 1950's 
represented a fundamental change in communications networks. A communications 
satellite, in essence, provides the ability to route a communications signal 
through the sky. Signals are sent from users on the ground to the satellite, 
which then amplifies the signal and sends it back to the end-user on the ground. 
Depending on the altitude of a satellite's orbit, it can cover a geographic 
area, or footprint, larger than the size of a continent. The key components of a 
satellite communications system include: 
 
        -   user terminals connecting the users to the satellite network, 
 
        -   satellites which relay communications signals to and from the users, 
            and 
 
        -   gateways that control the satellite network and connect it to 
            communications networks on the ground. 
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        The essential advantage of satellite communications is that they allow a 
network provider to rapidly deploy new communications services to large numbers 
of people anywhere in the footprint of the satellite. Consequently, satellites 
can be used to deploy broadband services in developed and developing markets in 
a shorter period of time than building ground-based infrastructure. Moreover, in 
some areas satellite solutions are less expensive than terrestrial wired and 
wireless alternatives. As satellite communications equipment becomes less 
expensive and new capabilities emerge in satellite communications technology, we 
believe that the market for satellite communications offers tremendous growth 
opportunities. 
 
        The demand in the commercial market for communications network products 
has been growing in both developed and developing countries. Much of the growth 
in demand is due to high data rate, or broadband, Internet or Intranet access, 
which requires transmission speeds that are much higher than traditional voice 
connections. We believe there are significant opportunities to provide satellite 
links to fill in gaps in ground-based wired and wireless coverage. The high 
growth projected in the commercial satellite communications industry is expected 
to be driven by the following major factors: (1) rapidly growing world-wide 
demand for communications services in general, and broadband data networks in 
particular, (2) the relative cost-effectiveness of satellite communications for 
many uses, (3) recent technological advancements which broaden applications for 
and increase the capacity and efficiency of satellite based networks, and (4) 
global deregulation and privatization of government-owned telecommunications 
carriers. 
 
        We provide satellite communications network solutions for multiple 
segments of the commercial market. 
 
        DATA NETWORKS. Satellite networks are well suited for data networks 
which focus on (1) rapidly deploying new services across large geographic areas, 
(2) reaching multiple user locations separated by long distances, (3) filling in 
gaps or providing support for data points of congestion, or "bottlenecks," in 
ground-based communications networks, and (4) providing communications 
capabilities in remote locations and in emerging markets where ground-based 
infrastructure has not yet been developed. 
 
        Corporate users are increasingly appreciating the benefits of satellite 
networks as they realize the advantages described above. Satellite networks are 
experiencing significant growth as a substitute for, or supplement to, 
ground-based communications services such as frame relay, digital subscriber 
lines, fiber optic cables, and Integrated Services Digital Networks (ISDN). We 
believe satellite data network products and services will continue to present us 
with significant growth opportunities as broadband data networks continue to 
expand in developed and developing markets throughout the world. 
 
        INTERNATIONAL AND RURAL TELECOMMUNICATIONS SERVICES. In a large number 
of remote or rural areas in developed countries and throughout developing 
countries, voice services are limited by the lack of ground-based 
infrastructure. In these areas, satellite networks are able to rapidly provide 
high-quality communications services in a cost-effective manner. In contrast to 
ground-based networks, satellite networks are simple to reconfigure or expand 
and are generally immune to difficulties of adding additional users in 
geographically dispersed areas. Another primary advantage of satellite networks 
is that additional users can be connected to a network in a short period of 
time. 
 
        We believe there are growth opportunities for providing satellite 
communications equipment and services to communications service providers 
targeting rural and residential areas in developed and developing countries 
where it may not be cost effective or time efficient to lay the necessary 
ground-based infrastructure for telephone and voice services. We believe 
satellite based telecommunications products and services represent a growth 
opportunity for us. 
 
        INTERNET APPLICATIONS. The Internet is evolving into a global medium, 
allowing millions of individuals throughout the world to communicate, share 
information, and engage in electronic commerce. In recent years, there has been 
significant growth in the use of satellites for Internet traffic. This growth 
has been centered on connecting Internet service providers, or ISPs, with the 
Internet. Satellite capacity is being used primarily where fiber cable is 
prohibitively expensive or rare, such as rural areas or emerging countries. 
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        We expect satellite communications to continue to offer a cost-effective 
augmentation capability for ISPs, particularly in markets where ground-based 
networks are unlikely to be either cost-effective or abundant. Additionally, 
satellite broadcast architecture provides an attractive alternative for ISPs, 
which are presently dealing with congestion associated with rapid and uneven 
Internet growth. Satellite systems can relieve congestion by providing a 
low-cost means of selectively distributing content to sites closer to end users. 
 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
 
        We offer a broad range of satellite communications and other wireless 
communications products and services, including: 
 
        VSAT NETWORK PRODUCTS. A VSAT terminal usually consists of an indoor 
unit and an outdoor unit. The indoor unit usually connects to a user's desktop 
or equipment similar to a modem and contains the circuitry needed to connect the 
desktop or equipment to the satellite. The outdoor unit usually includes an 
antenna, generally two to six feet in diameter, and electronic equipment that 
transmits and receives signals to and from the satellite. The network control 
system manages communications between the user terminals. 
 
        StarWire. Our StarWire VSAT products employing DAMA technology provide 
"mesh" broadband data, video and voice services via satellite to remote 
locations and areas that lack adequate ground-based communications 
infrastructure. Using frequency pre-correction, one of our resource management 
techniques, StarWire provides high levels of DAMA operating efficiency. In 
addition, all of our StarWire products are embedded with Internet Protocol 
routing and are compatible with Internet and Intranet applications. Our StarWire 
line currently consists of two terminal products and a network control system. 
 
        Our Calypso terminal represents a lower priced terminal with up to two 
DAMA channels and operating rates from 4.8 kbps to 2 Mbps. This terminal is 
ideal for backup and restoral of ground-based networks, file transfers, 
extending coverage of existing ground-based communications networks, and 
networks with multiple server locations such as corporate Intranets. Many 
features and functions of the Calypso terminal are implemented in our advanced 
software and are downloadable over the satellite. This flexibility makes the 
implementation of new enhancements and features easy, extends the life of the 
equipment and enables the terminal to quickly adapt to different network 
protocols. 
 
        In contrast, our Aurora terminal is a subscriber terminal providing up 
to six DAMA channels, with a standard operating rate of 2 Mbps per second. The 
Aurora terminal further enhances bandwidth efficiency by determining satellite 
and terminal transmission power prior to establishing a connection and then 
optimizing the terminal power based on service type, error correction 
requirements, antenna size, and satellite footprint. Users of the Aurora 
terminal can connect computers, phones, a private branch exchange (PBX), or 
facsimile machines directly to the terminal, or use the terminal as part of a 
gateway into a public-switched telephone network. The Aurora terminal also 
implements many of the functions in our advanced software, making it simple to 
download software through the satellite for on-going maintenance or adding new 
product enhancements. 
 
        The StarWire product line also consists of a scaleable network control 
system consisting of a computer workstation and network server similar to the 
StarWire subscriber terminals, which together essentially function as a 
"switchboard in the sky." This system performs real-time circuit assignment, 
system-wide resource management, and extensive network management. The system 
can assign network resources in three ways: (1) on demand, (2) by reservation 
one time or periodically, and (3) permanently. The network control systems are 
Windows NT-based, giving users a graphically rich interface to make the system 
easy to learn and simple to use. The configuration implements two control 
channels: inbound for satellite resource requests and outbound for resource 
assignment. The StarWire network control system is significantly less expensive 
than large installations required by conventional VSAT systems. The network 
control system works to further enhance the optimization of the network with 
comprehensive monitoring of peak loading, utilization percentages, blocking 
statistics, network-wide status, terminal configurations, and diagnostics. 
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        Skylinx. Our Skylinx VSAT product, which was developed by the Satellite 
Networks Business, is a competitively-priced VSAT terminal based on DAMA 
technology. This product is designed to provide inexpensive, toll quality 
telephone service for voice and fax communication for small businesses and 
cities in areas lacking adequate telephone infrastructure. An important feature 
of the Skylinx terminal is the large number of telephone interfaces which it 
supports. The ability to interface with many different telephone protocols gives 
the Skylinx terminal a much larger addressable market as compared to other VSAT 
systems which normally only support one or two voice interfaces. These voice 
protocols include 2-wire E&M, 4-wire E&M, MF, DTMF, R2, China #1, SS#5, and 
SS#7. 
 
        The Skylinx VSAT terminal's flexibility, in conjunction with the Skylinx 
network control system, allows common or custom numbering plans, downloadable 
channel unit circuit types, interfaces and signaling systems. This enables a 
network to accommodate specific customer requirements for private business 
telephony, public rural telephony and disaster recovery. In addition, a single 
Skylinx network control system can support up to 62,000 subscribers in the 
network. We believe the Skylinx terminals offer a cost-effective communications 
solution for rural telephony users who have historically been without service. 
 
        SkyRelay. Our SkyRelay products, which were developed by the Satellite 
Networks Business, are based on TDM/TDMA technology and are designed for 
transaction-oriented, single point to multi-point satellite networks. The 
feature that distinguishes a TDM/TDMA network from other satellite networks is 
that information for each specific site is quickly transmitted a few bits at a 
time instead of being all sent in one continuous transmission. The SkyRelay VSAT 
terminal product is designed to efficiently distribute large amounts of data 
through a network from a central hub location to many remote users. The SkyRelay 
is a high-end product supporting multiple data protocols, including X.25, 
SDLC/SNA, BSC 2780, 3780, BSC 3270, Async, and Internet Protocol routing. The 
ability to interface with many different data protocols gives SkyRelay networks 
a much larger addressable market as compared to other VSAT data communication 
systems which support fewer data protocols. Protocols may be assigned on a port 
by port basis on the SkyRelay terminals with different ports using different 
protocols. All protocol parameters are configured remotely by the network 
management system, then downloaded to the remote site. 
 
        Another important feature of the SkyRelay VSAT terminal is that it 
increases the efficiency of bandwidth utilization by automatically adjusting 
bandwidth resources to fit the precise nature of user traffic. As traffic 
switches from simple interactive transactions to complex batch transfer, each 
SkyRelay terminal is able to transition automatically from a straightforward 
contention protocol on the satellite link to an array of alternative channel 
access schemes. Transparent to the user, these dynamic adjustments in traffic 
loading minimize transmission delays. The SkyRelay network management system 
further increases bandwidth efficiency by tracking bandwidth utilization, 
identifying traffic patterns, providing automatic trouble-tickets, and creating 
user profiles. Typical applications supported by SkyRelay include remote network 
access, email, voice communications, ATM networks, credit card and check 
authorizations, inventory control, and information management. 
 
        New VSAT Network Product Development. We continually strive to develop 
new commercial products and services, both from our research and development 
efforts as well as through leveraging our government technologies and techniques 
to commercial applications. For example, we intend to implement our patented 
PCMA technology into products in the near future. In addition, with the recent 
acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business, we have gained a wide range of 
new technologies and products. We intend to harmonize our products and 
technologies with the products and technologies of the Satellite Networks 
Business to create derivative products and technologies composed of the 
strengths and best features of each of our combined products. 
 
        COMMUNICATIONS AND TRACKING SYSTEMS. Our communications and tracking 
systems products, which were developed by the Satellite Networks Business, are 
designed for three market segments: (1) gateway infrastructure, (2) remote 
sensing ground stations and (3) tracking, telemetry and command ground stations. 
Communications and tracking systems products consist of essentially the same 
three components: 
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a large satellite antenna dish, a high-powered radio transmitter and receiver, 
and an ultra high speed satellite modem. The size of antennas range from 3.6 
meters to 18 meters in diameter depending on the power of the transmissions from 
the satellite. The modems integrated into these systems can process data at 
rates of up to 150 Mbps per second, depending on the application of the 
satellite system. These systems support functions in the L, S, X, Ku, and 
Ka-band frequency spectrums. 
 
        Gateways. Our gateway business represents a key component of our ability 
to offer complete network development and integration services. The gateway 
products are used to connect satellites to the communications infrastructure on 
the ground, such as public switched telephone networks. We offer a number of 
different gateway products depending on the type, speed and size of the network. 
The gateways consist of our internally developed hardware and software as well 
as third party hardware. Although each of these components employs advanced 
technologies, the most complex component of a gateway is the design and software 
used to integrate each of the hardware components and operate the system. 
Gateways represent a key part of any satellite network since all satellite 
networks need gateways to route the traffic in the network. 
 
        We believe that we will derive many benefits and efficiencies from our 
gateway building capabilities. Since the gateway is the most complex and central 
component of any network, the optimization of the gateway for the specific 
network use is critical to optimizing the entire network. The ability to provide 
gateways and integrate those gateways into our innovative network solutions will 
provide us with an advantage over other network manufacturers and integrators, 
most of which purchase gateways from third parties. Our recent acquisition of 
the Satellite Networks Business has provided us with extensive experience in 
developing gateways for systems using Ka-band technologies. These new 
technologies are the cornerstone of emerging satellite services like broadband 
on demand. 
 
        Remote Sensing Ground Stations. The Satellite Networks Business has been 
a leader in the remote sensing ground station market for over 20 years. Remote 
sensing ground stations receive images of the earth transmitted from low earth 
orbit satellites. These images are often collected for both civilian and 
military purposes. Our remote sensing ground station products typically include 
a personal computer with software to provide satellite pre-mission planning, 
automated pre-pass set-up, system performance integrity analysis, signal routing 
assignments, and maintenance actions. 
 
        Tracking, Telemetry and Command Systems. Our tracking, telemetry and 
command products are designed to provide a means for monitoring and controlling 
satellites in orbit. The telemetry subsystem in the satellite supplies 
measurements of various parameters to an earth station which is responsible for 
the satellite management. The tracking systems provide the tracking and command 
functions of the system. The tracking subsystem provides the facilities by which 
the satellite orbit can be determined. Satellites operating in low earth orbit 
need to have their orbit parameters determined so that their passage over the 
earth station can be accurately predicted. The command subsystem provides the 
means by which the satellite is controlled. 
 
        DATA TRACKING COMMUNICATORS. Our data tracking communicators, which were 
developed by the Satellite Networks Business, are designed to relay information 
at low data rates through small satellites in low earth orbit, whereas 
traditional VSAT terminals relay information at higher data rates through large 
satellites placed far higher up in orbit. Because they do much less than 
traditional VSAT terminals, data tracking communicators cost only a few hundred 
dollars, as opposed to thousands of dollars for traditional VSAT terminals. 
 
        For fixed applications like automated meter reading and the monitoring 
and controlling of electric utility distribution networks, data tracking 
communicators are proving to be cost effective in areas where ground-based 
communications may not be available or reliable. The fixed site communicator 
includes a single card modem board, multiple access ports, industry-standard 
connectors, AC and backup DC power supply, and a fully integrated antenna. The 
entire unit is housed in a case with knockouts for power and communication lines 
to facilitate installation. 
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        For mobile applications like automated vehicle location systems that 
track and monitor the status of remote vehicles such as trucks, trailers and 
railway locomotives as well as marine vessels, data tracking communicators can 
provide substantial savings to large fleet operators. The mobile communicator 
includes a single card modem board, multiple access ports, industry-standard 
connectors, DC battery-based power supply with charger, and an external antenna. 
Extra space is provided in the electronics compartment of the unit to 
accommodate third party components, such as PCS and cellular systems. 
 
        NETWORK INTEGRATION SERVICES. We provide a suite of network integration 
services. Network integration services are a primary competitive advantage we 
maintain in the commercial satellite communications industry. Most of the 
manufacturers in this industry do not perform complex and customized network 
integration. Instead, most manufacturers only sell hardware and software 
communications products. Although some companies build standardized networks 
limited to the applications offered by the hardware and software used in the 
network, we are one of the few companies that develop complex, fully-operational 
networks integrating thousands of advanced hardware and software communications 
products. With expertise in satellite network engineering, gateway construction, 
and remote terminal manufacturing for all types of interactive communications 
services, we take end-to-end responsibility for building, initially operating, 
and then handing over a fully-operational, customized satellite network. Often 
our development efforts in building these complex networks results in the 
development of both new and enhanced technologies that can be leveraged to 
generate future products and services. 
 
        Network integration services first include network design and then 
network implementation. Network design involves analyzing the complex 
configuration or technology required to operate the customer's network, 
designing the system, determining critical system components and parameters of 
the system, and developing components and specifications for the network's 
hardware and software. Network implementation involves network hardware and 
software installation as well as interfacing the network equipment with the 
customer's other communications equipment. Network designs and implementations 
are planned and managed by our in-house network design teams. 
 
        NETWORK SERVICES. Satellite network services are a natural extension of 
our network integration business. Many of our customers want to maintain 
satellite communications networks without purchasing network control systems, 
directly purchasing bandwidth from satellite providers, or hiring and training 
specialized personnel. As part of our strategy to penetrate the broadband 
communications market, we intend to significantly expand our activity as a 
network service provider. Our turnkey network services include the provision of 
bandwidth to our customers by procuring satellite transponder capacity, which we 
obtain from third parties on an as-needed basis. We provide on-site installation 
of our equipment sold to customers, systems integration and training of customer 
on-site personnel. We also provide our customers with access to our network 
operations center (NOC) and to our network control systems for users of our VSAT 
terminal products. Although pricing terms vary, we offer flexible terms for our 
network services based on both a fixed recurring charge per site or variable 
pricing based on usage. Our recent acquisition of the Satellite Networks 
Business provides us with greater ability to provide our customers with 
satellite capacity as the Satellite Networks Business currently has contracted 
for satellite capacity to support growth in its network services business. We 
package satellite bandwidth together with our network operation services and the 
use of our network control systems to provide our customers with immediate 
access to a satellite network. 
 
        Many of our customers who operate their own networks require technical 
support. When our customers experience a problem with their network, they can 
contact the network operations center on a 24 hour basis, seven days a week, 
where one of our technicians or engineers, using our advanced monitoring and 
control technology, will work to resolve the problem and restore service. If 
service cannot be restored to satisfactory levels through our network operations 
center, we will dispatch one of our experienced field technicians, usually third 
parties trained and certified by us, to repair or replace the faulty equipment 
or software. Our maintenance services are supported by our internal logistics 
and repair organizations. The recent acquisition of the Satellite Networks 
Business will further strengthen our ability to provide high-quality technical 
support to our customers. A key component of our ability to provide end-to-end 
network solutions is our expertise in network support services. 
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        Our largest network operations center is located in Norcross, Georgia, 
which is staffed by technicians who are trained in network fault isolation, 
problem resolution and customer service. We also operate a network operations 
center at our corporate headquarters in Carlsbad, California. 
 
CUSTOMERS 
 
        The majority of our customers for our commercial products and services 
are satellite network integrators, large communications service providers and 
corporations requiring complex communications networks. Although we currently 
only have a limited number of commercial customers, the recent acquisition of 
the Satellite Networks Business has expanded our commercial customer base both 
domestically and internationally. 
 
        Significant commercial customers of our StarWire terminal products and 
network integration services include Star Cruises Management, Ltd. and Science 
Applications International Corporation (SAIC). Star Cruises is implementing 
ship-to-shore and ship-to-ship voice, data, and video communications onboard its 
fleet of cruise ships using a network designed and implemented by us based on 
our StarWire DAMA Internet Protocol, satellite-networking products. In addition, 
we are using our StarWire products to build a fully-operational satellite 
network for SAIC's global broadband network for oil and gas exploration. This 
network will represent the first global network operated by our network 
management services division. 
 
        We are currently developing and building the satellite control portion 
of the gateways for a multi-billion dollar Ka-band broadband satellite system 
currently under development. In addition, we have provided satellite network 
products and services for domestic and international customers, including major 
foreign automobile manufacturers, foreign financial institutions, and major 
foreign and domestic satellite equipment and service providers such as Telstra, 
SAAB, Cable and Wireless, Telespazio SpA (Astrolink) and Vantage. 
 
SALES AND MARKETING 
 
        We primarily use direct sales channels to market and sell our products 
and services. Our marketing and sales activities are organized geographically, 
with the majority of our salesforce focusing on North America. In addition, the 
Satellite Networks Business has provided us with an international salesforce and 
agent relationships, primarily covering Europe, Asia and South America, which we 
plan to use to target foreign customers for our existing StarWire commercial 
products. As a result of the acquisition, our sales and marketing group has 
grown to include approximately 40 persons, with over one half located outside 
the United States. 
 
        Our sales teams consist of account managers and sales engineers, who act 
as the primary interface to establish account relationships and determine 
technical requirements for the customers' networks. In addition to our sales 
force, we maintain a highly-trained service staff to provide technical product 
and service support to our customers. The sales cycle in the commercial 
satellite network market is lengthy and it is not unusual for a sale to take up 
to 18 months from the initial contact through the execution of the agreement. 
The sales process often includes several network design iterations, network 
demonstrations, and pilot networks consisting of a few sites. 
 
        In addition, we seek to develop key strategic relationships to market 
and sell our network products and services. We seek strategic relationships and 
partners based on many factors, including financial resources, technical 
capability, geographic location and market presence. Recently, we developed 
strategic relationships with SeaTel Inc. and Satpool AB for the development of 
the Star Cruises customized broadband communications network. We worked closely 
with SeaTel and Satpool for the development and successful integration of the 
integral shipboard antennas for these networks. 
 
        We also obtain sales to new customers through referrals from existing 
customers, industry suppliers, and other sources such as participation in trade 
shows. Additionally, we direct our sales and marketing 
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efforts to our strategic partners, primarily through our senior management. In 
some cases a strategic ally may be the prime contractor for a system or network 
installation and will subcontract a portion of the project to us. In other 
cases, the strategic ally may recommend us as the prime contractor for the 
design and integration of the network. 
 
        We provide service, repair and technical support for our products and 
services. Through our sales teams and support services, we are constantly made 
aware of customers' needs and their use of products and services. Accordingly, a 
superior level of continuing customer service and support is integral to our 
objective of developing and maintaining long-term relationships with our 
customers. The majority of our service and support activities are provided by 
our field engineering team, systems engineers, and sales and administrative 
support personnel, both on-site at the customer's location and by telephone. 
 
COMPETITION 
 
        The commercial communications industry is highly competitive and the 
level of competition is increasing. As a provider of commercial network products 
and designer of commercial network solutions in the United States and 
internationally, we compete with a number of wireless and ground-based 
communications service providers. Many of these competitors have significant 
competitive advantages, including strong customer relationships, more experience 
with regulatory compliance, greater financial and management resources, and 
control over central communications networks. To compete with these providers, 
we emphasize: 
 
        -   the overall cost of our satellite networks, which includes both 
            equipment and bandwidth costs, as compared to products offered by 
            ground-based and other satellite service providers, 
 
        -   the distinct advantages of satellite data networks, 
 
        -   our end-to-end network implementation services, and 
 
        -   our network management services. 
 
        Our principal competitors in the supply of commercial satellite data 
networks are Hughes Network Systems, Gilat Satellite Networks Ltd., NEC 
Corporation, and STM Wireless, Inc., each of which offers a broad range of 
satellite communications products and services. In competing with these 
companies, we emphasize: 
 
        -   the advanced and flexible features integrated into our products, 
 
        -   our proven design solutions and network integration services for 
            complex, customized network needs, and 
 
        -   the increased bandwidth efficiency offered by our networks and 
            products. 
 
        In addition, we compete in large part with Datron/Transco Inc. in the 
communications and tracking systems market. 
 
        In the future there will likely be formidable competition for high-speed 
broadband networking from several announced Ka-band satellite systems such as 
Spaceway, Astrolink, and Teledesic and the Ku-band Skybridge system. In many 
cases these systems will offer capabilities that are similar to those enabled by 
StarWire networks. 
 
GOVERNMENT MARKETS 
 
MARKET OPPORTUNITY 
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        Historically, the U.S. military has driven development of many new 
wireless technologies. This includes pioneering applications of satellite 
communications, digital radios, spread spectrum, and mobile wireless networks to 
connect widely dispersed operations. In many cases, these technologies have been 
transitioned to serve broader commercial markets. However, more recently, 
technology developed for commercial applications has been increasingly used for 
military markets as the military looks for more efficient ways to rapidly access 
the most advanced technology for warfare applications. 
 
        The break-up of the Soviet Union has caused the U.S. military to 
de-emphasize strategic missions and shift towards more localized tactical roles 
such as peacekeeping, counter-terrorism, counter-insurgency and drug 
enforcement. These missions create new demands for rapidly deployable, mobile 
connectivity. In addition, reductions in the defense budget have led to a 
numerically smaller, more technologically advanced military force. As a result, 
defense networks are increasingly built around advanced technologies and 
products providing high-speed transmissions of digital tactical data. 
 
        The market for defense applications of wireless technologies is growing 
at a higher rate than other parts of the defense market due in large measure to 
an increasing reliance on complex weapon and tactical data communication 
systems. Key reasons for this growth include: 
 
        -   the need to communicate target information and the location of 
            coalition and enemy forces to all military units in the battlefield, 
 
        -   the need to maintain smaller, lighter, less expensive and better 
            performing voice and data equipment for rapid deployment of ground 
            troops and weapons systems to all parts of the world, 
 
        -   the need to develop advanced networks capable of supporting modern 
            military maneuvers and operations, and 
 
        -   the development of new technologies that are increasing the utility 
            of wireless communications networks by decreasing operating costs 
            and increasing bandwidth utilization and capabilities. 
 
        We believe that we are well positioned to take advantage of the trends 
in the defense industry. Our leadership in the UHF DAMA market and 
communications test equipment, and our recent selection as one of only three 
current U.S. government certified manufacturers of Link-16 MIDS terminals, 
provide an advantage for future United States and international procurements in 
these areas and a foundation from which to expand our sales opportunities. We 
intend to continue applying commercial standards (e.g., Internet Protocols) and 
products (e.g., StarWire) into government applications to expand our traditional 
opportunities by both increasing capabilities and functionality of our 
government products as well as increasing the cost competitiveness of these 
offerings. 
 
PRODUCTS AND SERVICES 
 
        We offer a broad range of products and services to the government 
communications market. We are a leading developer of UHF DAMA products and 
services for the U.S. military. In addition, we have recently developed highly 
sophisticated communications products for military applications such as the 
Link-16 MIDS terminal and our simulator and test products. 
 
        UHF DAMA PRODUCTS. UHF is a globally available U.S. satellite radio 
frequency for military communications. We have historically developed many 
advanced products for the U.S. military for use on the UHF frequency. Many of 
these products employ DAMA-based technology to efficiently manage the limited 
bandwidth represented by the UHF frequency. Our UHF DAMA products and services 
for the government market include: 
 
        AN/PSC-5 Terminal is also known as the Spitfire. The Spitfire is a 
battery-operated UHF satellite radio that Raytheon Systems Company builds for 
the U.S. Army. Spitfires are used to send encrypted voice, electronic mail, fax 
or other data via satellite. Our DAMA modem, which is a central component of the 
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Spitfire, allows the radio operator to automatically request a portion of a 
satellite channel for a selected destination at the time the operator needs to 
send a message or transmit data. The Spitfire radio, combined with a portable 
satellite antenna, can be used to transmit secure voice or other data from 
almost anywhere in the world. We have provided over 7,000 DAMA modems to 
Raytheon for the Spitfire. A next-generation modem development is underway with 
a recent order for 3,000 modems for application in Raytheon's extended Skyfire 
and Shadowfire line of radios as well as other applications such as the Tomahawk 
missile program. 
 
        Worldwide Network Control System is the DAMA network management system 
originally developed and installed by us for the U.S. Air Force, which has 
recently been used by the U.S. Navy. The network consists of four sites 
worldwide that manage automatic DAMA access to UHF satellite channels. The 
network control computer developed by us automatically allocates satellite 
resources to subscriber terminals when a subscriber requests a voice or data 
service. The network control system also keeps track of which satellite 
terminals are active and the capacity available for each satellite. We continue 
to offer technical support services to each network management site. 
 
        MD-1324 is our stand-alone UHF DAMA modem product. This modem can be 
used with many types of UHF satellite radios. The MD-1324 enables a satellite 
radio connected to external equipment to connect to a DAMA-based network. We 
have provided over 1,000 of these modems to U.S. and international forces. We 
also recently developed an upgrade to our MD-1324 product which adds an improved 
digital signal processor to enable better performance within the same package. 
 
        VT-320 is our next generation UHF DAMA terminal product. The VT-320 is a 
programmable, modular radio system providing flexible configuration of UHF 
satellite communications terminals and test equipment. This product line is 
intended for near-term applications throughout the U.S. services and in 
international military sales. 
 
        QDC-100 is our antenna combiner product. Without this product, an 
aircraft loses communications if its single fixed antenna is pointed away from 
the satellite by aircraft position changes. This product is currently used on 
U.S. Navy P-3 Orion reconnaissance aircraft. Additional potential uses for this 
product include international and naval shipboard applications. Recent upgrades 
to our QDC-100 product will provide a stand-alone satellite communications and 
antenna-combining solution in one piece of equipment for applications to the 
United States and international aircraft and surface ships which currently have 
multiple antennas. 
 
        DOCCT/S is our trainer and simulator product. By simulating signals, 
this product enables users to integrate and test UHF DAMA systems as well as 
train UHF DAMA users without actually accessing the DAMA network through the 
satellite. Access to this tool simplifies the user's activity by providing 
realistic communications experiences without the difficult and expensive process 
of obtaining satellite resources. 
 
        LINK-16 PRODUCTS. Link-16 is a high performance broadband data link 
system selected by the U.S. government and international allied nations to 
support networked information transmission across a variety of air, sea and 
ground-based platforms. The Link-16 system is a wireless line-of-sight system 
used to communicate among ground and airborne military users without the use of 
a satellite. We were recently selected by the U.S. government as a new Link-16 
terminal contractor, and only one of two current U.S. government qualified 
manufacturers of Link-16 MIDS terminals. A third Link-16 MIDS manufacturer has 
been certified by the U.S. government but has not yet met all the requirements 
to serve as a government contractor. The Link-16 market segment has significant 
technology and data certification barriers to entry, and the U.S. and 
international military portion of the Link-16 MIDS market is expected to total 
approximately 8,000 units and generate approximately $2 billion in revenues for 
Link-16 providers over the next five to ten years. In addition, this market may 
experience growth from non-military applications and the development of other 
related Link-16 products and test equipment. Our Link-16 products include: 
 
        Multifunction Information Distribution System, or MIDS, terminals are 
designed to operate in a highly secure, high performance wireless networking 
system that allows military platforms, including fighter 
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aircraft, ships, command and control aircraft, and ground-based units, to share 
critical real-time information. Platforms that employ MIDS/Link-16 within a 
theater of operation use it to first collect tactical information from each 
user's on-board sensors such as radars, early warning electronic warfare 
systems, and electronic identification systems and then disseminate a packaged 
set of information back to the other network users. By sharing this critical 
information, MIDS allows each user in a Link-16 network to maintain a real-time 
situational awareness picture of the entire battle space. 
 
        Our MIDS terminals communicate in a Link-16 network using a complex, 
highly secure waveform. This waveform is designed to provide reliable 
communications to multiple users within a hostile electromagnetic environment. 
It employs many advanced techniques, such as direct sequence spread spectrum, 
frequency hopping, error detection and correction coding, and encryption, to 
ensure maximum robustness and jam resistance. 
 
        The first U.S. platforms to receive MIDS will be the Navy F/A-18 fighter 
aircraft and the Air Force F-16 Fighting Falcon. Other platforms include U.S. 
ground-based Command and Control platforms, bomber aircraft, ships, submarines, 
the French Rafael fighter, the European EF-2000, Italy's AMX/Tornado fighters, 
and Spain's EF-18 fighters. 
 
        Link-16 Test Products include a system we developed for Logicon's 
Link-16 Monitoring System which provides the capability to receive 
transmissions, complete with signal quality measures, for monitoring and 
analyzing the Link-16 wireless network. The Link-16 Simulator is another of our 
test products that allows the generation of low power Link-16 signals 
representing many different participants in the network for testing of Link-16 
equipment in a dynamic, dense environment. 
 
        COMMUNICATION ENVIRONMENT SIMULATOR/JOINT COMMUNICATION 
SIMULATOR/COMMUNICATIONS NAVIGATION AND IDENTIFICATION SIMULATOR. CES/JCS/CNIS 
is a product designed to simulate realistic radio environments that can be used 
to test how well surveillance or other radio systems work in the presence of 
various and changing communications signals. The simulation product generates a 
large number of very accurate radio frequency signals which can be radiated and 
received by the equipment under test or potentially directly inserted into 
multiple antenna ports. 
 
        VIASAT INTERNET PROTOCOL CRYPTO. Our KIV-21 Crypto (formerly VIP Crypto) 
product is a device that encrypts classified information so that it can be 
transmitted over communications networks, ground-based or satellite. This 
product enables classified private networks to be set up and operated over 
unclassified networks such as the public Internet. KIV-21 Crypto is based on our 
Embeddable Infosec Product, which has been approved by the National Security 
Agency for transmission of classified information classified up to top secret. 
We received National Security Agency endorsement of the VIP Crypto on May 5, 
2000 clearing the way for deployment in U.S. Department of Defense operated 
networks. 
 
CUSTOMERS 
 
        The primary customers for our government products and services are the 
U.S. Department of Defense, international allied nations and large defense 
contractors. While most of our commercial customers are based in the United 
States, many of our large defense contractor customers have recently been 
leveraging our network design experience and the advanced capabilities of our 
products to sell communications products to international military forces. 
Examples of large defense contractors with which we have worked in the past 
include Raytheon Systems Company, Lockheed Martin Corporation, The Boeing 
Company, Northrop-Grumman Corporation and Marconi Communications, Elmer S.p.A. 
 
SALES AND MARKETING 
 
        We use both direct and indirect sales channels to sell our government 
products. We have approximately six sales and marketing personnel who offer our 
government products and services. All of these sales personnel are located in 
the United States. International government sales are conducted through our U.S. 
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sales personnel. Although many of our sales are generated from direct sales, we 
often sell our products directly to prime contractors responsible for developing 
the entire network system where our products are integrated and embedded into 
the system. 
 
        Our government sales teams consist of engineers, program managers, 
marketing managers and contract managers who work together to identify business 
opportunities, develop customer relationships, develop solutions for the 
customer's needs, prepare proposals and negotiate a contractual arrangement. The 
period of time from initial contact through the point of product sale and 
delivery can take over three years for more complex product developments or for 
product developments including prototypes and demonstrations. Products already 
in production can usually be delivered to a customer between 90 to 180 days. 
 
        Our indirect sales are primarily generated from strategic relationships 
with prime contractors for large defense projects and referrals from existing 
large defense contractor customers. 
 
COMPETITION 
 
        The government communications industry is highly competitive and the 
level of competition is increasing. As a developer of communications products 
and services for the government markets in the United States and 
internationally, we compete with a variety of communications providers. Many of 
these companies have significant competitive advantages, including long standing 
customer relationships, more experience with meeting government standards, and 
greater financial and management resources. To compete effectively, we 
emphasize: 
 
        -   our record of developing and producing products in relatively short 
            periods of time, 
 
        -   our products featuring advanced and flexible architectures, 
 
        -   our proven network design solutions, and 
 
        -   our competitive product and service prices. 
 
        Our principal competitors in the supply of communications products and 
services to the U.S. government include The Titan Corporation, Rockwell 
International Corporation, Raytheon Systems Company, Motorola, Inc., and BAE 
Systems. With respect to Link-16 products, our principal competitor is Data Link 
Solutions (DLS), a partnership between BAE Systems and Rockwell's Collins 
division, which is also a U.S. government qualified Link-16 MIDS provider. 
EuroMIDS, a third provider of Link-16 MIDS products, which has been certified by 
the U.S. government, is a consortium among Thomson-CSF(France), MID S.p.A. 
(Italy), INDRA (Spain), and DaimlerChrysler AG (DASA-Germany). We compete with 
EuroMIDS in the international MIDS terminal market. We believe that we are 
competitively positioned among these companies because of our installed base of 
equipment, our existing contracts, our market lead time with respect to some 
DAMA product capabilities and our participation in both the network control and 
subscriber terminal markets. 
 
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT 
 
        We believe that future success depends on the ability to adapt to the 
rapidly changing satellite communications and related signal processing and 
networking software environment. Therefore, the continued timely development and 
introduction of new products is essential in maintaining our competitive 
position. We develop most of our products in-house and currently have a research 
and development and engineering staff that includes over 300 engineers. A 
significant portion of our research and development efforts in the defense 
industry has generally been conducted in direct response to the specific 
requirements of a customer's order and, accordingly, these amounts are included 
in the cost of sales when incurred and the related funding is included in 
revenues at that time. In contrast, all of the research and development 
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efforts of the Satellite Networks Business have been focused on the development 
of commercial products and services. 
 
        Our revenues for research and development funded by government and 
commercial customers during the during fiscal year 1998 were approximately $25.6 
million, during fiscal year 1999 were approximately $40.5 million, and during 
fiscal year 2000 were approximately $35.0 million. In addition, we invested $7.6 
million in fiscal years 1998, 1999, and 2000 on independent research and 
development, which is not directly funded by a third party. Funded research and 
development contains a profit component and is therefore not directly comparable 
to independent research and development. As a government contractor, we also are 
able to recover a portion of our independent research and development expenses, 
consisting primarily of salaries and other personnel-related expenses, supplies 
and prototype materials related to research and development programs. 
 
        We have benefited from the Small Business Innovation Research program, 
known as SBIR, through which the government provides research and development 
funding for companies with fewer than 500 employees. As we have grown, our 
reliance on SBIR funding for research and development has significantly 
decreased. Upon completion of the recent acquisition of the Satellite Networks 
Business we became ineligible for SBIR funding due to the increased size of the 
combined entity. We cannot assure you that our loss of SBIR funding status will 
not materially harm our business. Nevertheless, we plan to build from this 
established technology base to further develop products for commercial 
applications. 
 
MANUFACTURING 
 
        Our manufacturing objective is to produce high-quality products that 
conform to their specifications at the lowest possible manufacturing cost. We 
primarily utilize a range of contract manufacturers, based on the volume of the 
production, to reduce the costs of products and to support rapid increases in 
delivery rates when needed. As part of our manufacturing process, we conduct 
extensive testing and quality control procedures for all products before they 
are delivered to customers. 
 
        Contract manufacturers produce products for many different customers and 
are able to pass on the benefits of large scale manufacturing to their 
customers. These manufacturers are able to achieve high quality products with 
lower levels of costs by (1) exercising their high-volume purchasing power, (2) 
employing advanced and efficient production equipment and systems on a full-time 
basis, and (3) using a highly skilled workforce. Our primary contract 
manufacturers include Jabil Circuit, Inc., SMS Technologies, Inc. and SMTEK 
International. 
 
        Our experienced management team facilitates the efficient contract 
manufacturing process through the development of strong relationships with a 
number of different contract manufacturers. By negotiating beneficial contract 
provisions and purchasing some of the equipment needed to manufacture our 
products, we retain the ability to move the production of our products from one 
contract manufacturing source to another if required. Our operations management 
has experience in the successful transition from in-house production to contract 
manufacturing. The degree to which we employ contract manufacturing depends on 
the maturity of the product. We intend to limit our internal manufacturing 
capacity to new product development support and customized products which need 
to be manufactured in strict accordance with a customer's specifications and 
delivery schedule. Therefore, our internal manufacturing capability for standard 
products has been, and is expected to continue to be, very limited, and we 
intend to rely on contract manufacturers for large scale manufacturing. 
 
        We also rely on outside vendors to manufacture specific components and 
subassemblies used in the production of our products. Some components, 
subassemblies and services necessary for the manufacture of our products are 
obtained from a sole supplier or a limited group of suppliers. In particular, 
Texas Instruments is a sole source supplier of digital signal processing chips, 
which are critical components used by us in substantially all of our products. 
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        During the transition period, the Satellite Networks Business will 
continue to rely in large part on internal manufacturing capabilities of 
Scientific-Atlanta to manufacture its products. As part of the acquisition, we 
entered into an agreement with Scientific-Atlanta under which Scientific-Atlanta 
will continue to manufacture some products of the Satellite Networks Business 
for an interim period of six months. During this interim period, we intend to 
transition the manufacturing of the products to contract manufacturers. 
 
BACKLOG 
 
        We had firm backlog of $44.9 million at March 31, 1999, of which $36.8 
million was funded, not including options of $45.2 million. As of March 31, 
2000, we had firm backlog of $88.2 million, of which $58.6 million was funded. 
Of the $88.2 million in firm backlog at March 31, 2000, approximately $43.0 
million is expected to be delivered in fiscal year 2001, approximately $29.6 
million is expected to be delivered in fiscal year 2002 and the balance is 
expected to be delivered in fiscal year 2003 and thereafter. The increase in 
backlog results from growth in total awards for both commercial and defense 
products from $43.7 million for fiscal year 1999 to $119.3 million for fiscal 
year 2000. We include in our backlog only those orders for which we have 
accepted purchase orders. Our firm backlog does not include contract options of 
$53.3 million. These options include $44.6 million of Indefinite 
Delivery/Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ) contracts for our UHF DAMA satellite 
communications products and $6.6 million of IDIQ contracts for our other 
products. 
 
        Backlog is not necessarily indicative of future sales. A majority of our 
backlog from U.S. military contracts scheduled for delivery can be terminated at 
the convenience of the government since orders are often made substantially in 
advance of delivery, and our contracts typically provide that orders may be 
terminated with limited or no penalties. In addition, purchase orders may 
present product specifications that would require us to complete additional 
product development. A failure to develop products meeting such specifications 
could lead to a termination of the related purchase order. 
 
        The backlog amounts as presented are comprised of funded and unfunded 
components. Funded backlog represents the sum of contract amounts for which 
funds have been specifically obligated by customers to contracts. Unfunded 
backlog represents future amounts that customers may obligate over the specified 
contract performance periods. Our customers allocate funds for expenditures on 
long-term contracts on a periodic basis. Our ability to realize revenues from 
government contracts in backlog is dependent upon adequate funding for such 
contracts. Although funding of its government contracts is not within our 
control, our experience indicates that actual contract fundings have ultimately 
been approximately equal to the aggregate amounts of the contracts. 
 
GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS 
 
        A substantial portion of our revenues are generated from contracts and 
subcontracts with the U.S. Department of Defense and other federal government 
agencies. Many of our contracts are competitively bid and awarded on the basis 
of technical merit, personnel qualifications, experience and price. We also 
receive some contract awards involving special technical capabilities on a 
negotiated, noncompetitive basis due to our unique technical capabilities in 
special areas. Recently the Federal Acquisition Streamlining Act of 1994 has 
encouraged the use of commercial type pricing on dual use products. Our future 
revenues and income could be materially affected by changes in procurement 
policies, a reduction in expenditures for the products and services provided by 
us, and other risks generally associated with federal government contracts. 
 
        We provide products under federal government contracts that usually 
require performance over a period of one to five years. Long-term contracts may 
be conditioned upon continued availability of congressional appropriations. 
Variances between anticipated budget and congressional appropriations may result 
in a delay, reduction or termination of these contracts. Contractors often 
experience revenue uncertainties with respect to available contract funding 
during the first quarter of the government's fiscal year beginning October 1, 
until differences between budget requests and appropriations are resolved. 
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        Our federal government contracts are performed under cost-reimbursement 
contracts, time-and-materials contracts and fixed-price contracts. 
Cost-reimbursement contracts provide for reimbursement of costs and for payment 
of a fee. The fee may be either fixed by the contract or variable, based upon 
cost control, quality, delivery and the customer's subjective evaluation of the 
work. Under time-and-materials contracts, we receive a fixed amount by labor 
category for services performed and are reimbursed for the cost of materials 
purchased to perform the contract. Under a fixed-price contract, we agree to 
perform specific work for a fixed price and, accordingly, realize the benefit or 
detriment to the extent that the actual cost of performing the work differs from 
the contract price. Revenues generated from contracts with the federal 
government or our prime contractors for fiscal year 2000 were approximately 20% 
from cost-reimbursement contracts, approximately 1% from time-and-materials 
contracts and approximately 79% from fixed-price contracts of total revenues. 
 
        Our allowable federal government contract costs and fees are subject to 
audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency. Audits may result in 
non-reimbursement of some contract costs and fees. While the government reserves 
the right to conduct further audits, audits conducted for periods through fiscal 
year 1996 have resulted in no material cost recovery disallowances for us. 
 
        Our federal government contracts may be terminated, in whole or in part, 
at the convenience of the government. If a termination for convenience occurs, 
the government generally is obligated to pay the cost incurred by us under the 
contract plus a pro rata fee based upon the work completed. When we participate 
as a subcontractor, we are at risk if the prime contractor does not perform its 
contract. Similarly, when we act as a prime contractor employing subcontractors, 
we are at risk if a subcontractor does not perform its subcontract. 
 
        Some of our federal government contracts contain options that are 
exercisable at the discretion of the customer. An option may extend the period 
of performance for one or more years for additional consideration on terms and 
conditions similar to those contained in the original contract. An option may 
also increase the level of effort and assign new tasks to us. In our experience, 
options are exercised more often than not. 
 
        Our eligibility to perform under our federal government contracts 
requires us to maintain adequate security measures. We have implemented security 
procedures that we believe are adequate to satisfy the requirements of our 
federal government contracts. 
 
REGULATORY ENVIRONMENT 
 
        Some of our products are incorporated into wireless communications 
systems that are subject to regulation domestically by the Federal 
Communications Commission and internationally by other government agencies. 
Although the equipment operators and not us are responsible for compliance with 
these regulations, regulatory changes, including changes in the allocation of 
available frequency spectrum and in the military standards which define the 
current networking environment, could materially adversely affect our operations 
by restricting development efforts by our customers, making current products 
obsolete or increasing the opportunity for additional competition. Changes in, 
or our failure to manufacture products in compliance with, applicable 
regulations could materially harm our business. In addition, the increasing 
demand for wireless communications has exerted pressure on regulatory bodies 
worldwide to adopt new standards for these products, generally following 
extensive investigation and deliberation over competing technologies. The delays 
inherent in this government approval process have in the past caused and may in 
the future cause the cancellation, postponement or rescheduling of the 
installation of communication systems by our customers, which in turn may have a 
material adverse effect on the sale of our products to the customers. 
 
        We are also subject to a variety of local, state and federal government 
regulations relating to the storage, discharge, handling, emission, generation, 
manufacture and disposal of toxic or other hazardous substances used to 
manufacture our products. The failure to comply with current or future 
regulations 
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could result in the imposition of substantial fines on us, suspension of 
production, alteration of our manufacturing processes or cessation of 
operations. To date, these regulations have not had a material effect on our 
business, as we have neither incurred significant costs to maintain compliance 
nor to remedy past noncompliance. 
 
        We believe that we operate our business in material compliance with 
applicable government regulations. We are not aware of any pending legislation 
that if enacted could materially harm our business. 
 
        In addition to the local, state and federal government regulations, we 
must comply with applicable laws and obtain the approval of the regulatory 
authorities of each foreign country in which it operates. The laws and 
regulatory requirements relating to satellite communications and other wireless 
communications systems vary from country to country. Some countries have 
substantially deregulated satellite communications and other wireless 
communications, while other countries maintain strict and often burdensome 
regulations. The procedure to obtain these regulatory approvals can be 
time-consuming and costly, and the terms of the approvals vary for different 
countries. In addition, in some countries there may be restrictions on the 
ability to interconnect satellite communications with ground-based 
communications systems. 
 
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 
 
        We rely on a combination of patents, trade secrets, copyrights, 
trademarks, service marks and contractual rights to protect our intellectual 
property. We attempt to protect our trade secrets and other proprietary 
information through agreements with our customers, suppliers, employees and 
consultants, and through other security measures. Although we intend to protect 
our rights vigorously, we cannot assure you that these measures will be 
successful. In addition, the laws of some countries in which our products are or 
may be developed, manufactured or sold may not protect our products and 
intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United 
States. 
 
        While our ability to compete may be affected by our ability to protect 
our intellectual property, we believe that, because of the rapid pace of 
technological change in the wireless personal communications industry, our 
technical expertise and ability to introduce new products on a timely basis will 
be more important in maintaining our competitive position than protection of our 
intellectual property and that patent, trade secret and copyright protections 
are important but must be supported by other factors such as the expanding 
knowledge, ability and experience of our personnel, new product introductions 
and frequent product enhancements. Although we continue to implement protective 
measures and intend to defend vigorously our intellectual property rights, we 
cannot assure you that these measures will be successful. 
 
        In the event of litigation to determine the validity of any third 
party's claims, the litigation could result in significant expense to us and 
divert the efforts of our technical and management personnel, whether or not the 
litigation is determined in our favor. The wireless communications industry has 
been subject to frequent litigation regarding patent and other intellectual 
property rights. Leading companies and organizations in the industry have 
numerous patents that protect their intellectual property rights in these areas. 
In the event of an adverse result of any litigation, we could be required to 
expend significant resources to develop non-infringing technology or to obtain 
licenses to the technology that is the subject of the litigation. 
 
EMPLOYEES 
 
        As of March 31, 2000, we had 380 employees (of which 28 were temporary 
employees), including over 194 in research and development, 14 in sales and 
marketing, 87 in production, and 85 in corporate, administration and production 
coordination. We currently employ 182 engineers, including 75 engineers who have 
masters degrees and seven engineers who have doctorate degrees. None of our 
employees are covered by a collective bargaining agreement and we have never 
experienced any strike or work stoppage. We believe that our relations with our 
employees are good. 
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        As of March 31, 2000, the Satellite Networks Business had 338 employees, 
including over 128 in research and development, 25 in sales and marketing, 161 
in production, and 24 in corporate, administration and production coordination. 
The Satellite Networks Business employs 128 engineers. None of the employees of 
the Satellite Networks Business are covered by a collective bargaining 
agreement. 
 
FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE PERFORMANCE 
 
ANY FAILURE TO SUCCESSFULLY INTEGRATE THE SATELLITE NETWORKS BUSINESS WITH OUR 
BUSINESS MAY ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
        Our future performance will depend in part on whether we can integrate 
our operations with the operations of the Satellite Networks Business in an 
effective and efficient manner. Integrating our operations with the Satellite 
Networks Business will be a complex, time consuming and expensive process. The 
recent acquisition creates risks such as: 
 
        -   disruption of our ongoing business, 
 
        -   difficulty assimilating the operations, including financial and 
            accounting functions, sales and marketing procedures, technology and 
            other corporate administrative functions of the combined operations, 
 
        -   difficulty in converting the Satellite Networks Business' current 
            business information system to our system, 
 
        -   difficulty maintaining relationships with present and potential 
            customers, distributors and suppliers of the Satellite Networks 
            Business due to uncertainties regarding service, production quality 
            and prices, 
 
        -   diversion of attention of our senior management team from existing 
            operations and other potential business opportunities, and 
 
        -   problems hiring and retaining key employees who were previously 
            employed by Scientific-Atlanta in the Satellite Networks Business. 
 
We cannot guarantee that we will successfully integrate our operations with the 
operations of the Satellite Networks Business. If we are unable to address any 
of the risks described above, it could materially harm our business and impair 
the value of our common stock. 
 
THE SATELLITE NETWORKS BUSINESS HAS A HISTORY OF LOSSES AND MAY CONTINUE TO 
EXPERIENCE LOSSES IN THE FUTURE 
 
        Since its fiscal year 1998, the Satellite Networks Business has incurred 
substantial net losses. Although we believe that, as part of the integration of 
our commercial business with the Satellite Networks Business, we can implement 
cost savings and operational efficiencies that will improve the Satellite 
Networks Business' financial performance, we cannot assure you that the 
Satellite Networks Business will become profitable in the foreseeable future, if 
at all. If the Satellite Networks Business fails to achieve profitability, that 
failure could materially harm our business and impair the value of our common 
stock. 
 
THE RECENT ACQUISITION OF THE SATELLITE NETWORKS BUSINESS WILL RESULT IN COSTS 
OF INTEGRATION AND ACQUISITION EXPENSES THAT COULD ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR 
FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 
        If the benefits of the acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business do 
not exceed the costs associated with the acquisition, our financial results 
could be adversely affected. We estimate that, the total purchase price will be 
approximately $60 million, (including post-closing adjustments). 
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A portion of the costs in excess of the purchase price will likely be 
associated with integrating our operations with the operations of the Satellite 
Networks Business, including the elimination of duplicative operations and 
consolidation of administrative, financial and accounting functions, sales and 
marketing operations, support and research and development activities. Actual 
costs may substantially exceed our estimates. In addition, unanticipated 
expenses associated with integrating the Satellite Networks Business into our 
business may arise. 
 
WE FACE RISKS FROM OUR OPERATION OF THE SATELLITE NETWORKS BUSINESS 
 
        Although the Satellite Networks Business had historically been operated 
as a separate division of Scientific-Atlanta, the Satellite Networks Business 
had neither been operated as a stand-alone business nor conducted without the 
benefit of the financial resources or trade name of Scientific-Atlanta. Under 
the terms of the asset purchase agreement, we will be entitled to use 
Scientific-Atlanta trademarks for products made or distributed by the Satellite 
Networks Business for a period of six months after the closing. However, we 
cannot assure you that we will not encounter financial, managerial or other 
difficulties as a result of operating the Satellite Networks Business 
independent of the resources provided by Scientific-Atlanta. If we are unable to 
successfully address any of the foregoing risks, it could materially harm our 
business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
WE FACE RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH OUR ACQUISITION AGREEMENT WITH SCIENTIFIC-ATLANTA 
 
        In connection with the recent acquisition of the Satellite Networks 
Business, we entered into an asset purchase agreement and other related 
agreements with Scientific-Atlanta. The acquisition agreement contemplates 
post-closing adjustments to the purchase price which may require us to pay 
additional amounts to Scientific-Atlanta after the closing or may require 
Scientific-Atlanta to pay additional amounts to us. In addition, we and 
Scientific-Atlanta will have additional payment obligations, including 
indemnification obligations, under both the acquisition agreement and the 
related agreements. If our payment obligations significantly increase, or if 
Scientific-Atlanta fails or delays in making its required payments, it could 
materially harm our business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
WE FACE RISKS FROM CHANGES IN THE ALLOCATION OF THE PURCHASE PRICE OF THE 
SATELLITE NETWORKS BUSINESS 
 
        The acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business will be accounted for 
by the purchase method of accounting. Under purchase accounting, the total 
purchase price will be allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and 
liabilities of the Satellite Networks Business based upon their respective fair 
values as of the closing of the acquisition based on valuations and other 
studies which are not yet available. We have not made a final determination as 
to the value of the Satellite Networks Business' in-process research and 
development, if any. To the extent that a portion of the purchase price would be 
allocated to in- process research and development, generally accepted accounting 
principles would require that this amount be written off as a one-time charge to 
operations. Consequently, the amounts reflected in the pro forma financial 
information are subject to change, and the final amounts may differ 
significantly. 
 
OUR RELIANCE ON U.S. GOVERNMENT CONTRACTS COULD HARM OUR BUSINESS 
 
        Approximately 92% of our revenues for fiscal year 1999 and approximately 
76% of our revenues for fiscal year 2000 were derived from U.S. government 
applications. While the recent acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business 
will substantially reduce our dependence on U.S. government business in the near 
term, such business will continue to represent a significant portion of our 
revenues for the foreseeable future. U.S. government business exposes us to 
various risks, including: 
 
        -   unpredictable contract or project terminations, 
 
        -   reductions in government funds available for our projects due to 
            government policy changes, budget cuts and contract adjustments, 
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        -   penalties arising from post-award contract audits, 
 
        -   cost audits in which the value of our contracts may be reduced, 
 
        -   higher-than-expected final costs, particularly relating to software 
            and hardware development, for work performed under contracts where 
            we commit to specified deliveries for a fixed price, 
 
        -   limited profitability from cost-reimbursement contracts under which 
            the amount of profit is limited to a specified amount, and 
 
        -   unpredictable cash collections of unbilled receivables that may be 
            subject to acceptance of contract deliverables by the customer and 
            contract close-out procedures, including government approval of 
            final indirect rates. 
 
In addition, substantially all of our U.S. government backlog scheduled for 
delivery can be terminated at the convenience of the U.S. government since 
orders are often placed well before delivery, and our contracts typically 
provide that orders may be terminated with limited or no penalties. If we are 
unable to address any of the risks described above, it could materially harm our 
business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
OUR SUCCESS DEPENDS ON OUR ABILITY TO GROW OUR COMMERCIAL BUSINESS 
 
        To date, our internal growth has been driven largely by our success in 
meeting the need for advanced communications products for the U.S. military. We 
have been increasing our focus in recent years on offering satellite-based 
communications products to address commercial market needs. We believe our 
recent acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business gives us the scale and 
scope to become a larger player in this market. Our goal is to leverage our 
advanced technology and capabilities to capture a significant share of the 
global satellite services and equipment segment of the high-growth broadband 
communications market. However, we cannot assure you that we will be able to 
grow our commercial satellite communications business or that we will be able to 
compete effectively in the commercial market in the future. If we are unable to 
grow our commercial business or compete effectively in the commercial market in 
the future, it could materially harm our business and impair the value of our 
common stock. 
 
A SIGNIFICANT PORTION OF OUR REVENUE IS DERIVED FROM A FEW OF OUR CONTRACTS 
 
        A small number of our contracts account for a significant percentage of 
our revenues. Historically, our largest revenue producing contracts have been 
U.S. government contracts related to our UHF DAMA technology, which generated 
approximately 51% of our revenues for our fiscal year 1999 and 33% of our 
revenues for fiscal year 2000. Our five largest contracts generated 
approximately 61% of our revenues for fiscal year 1999 and 35% of our revenues 
for fiscal year 2000. Termination or disruption of these contracts, or our 
inability to renew or replace these contracts when they expire, could materially 
harm our business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
OUR SUCCESS DEPENDS UPON THE DEVELOPMENT OF NEW SATELLITE AND OTHER WIRELESS 
COMMUNICATIONS PRODUCTS AND OUR ABILITY TO GAIN ACCEPTANCE OF THESE PRODUCTS 
 
        The wireless communications market in general, and the satellite 
communications market in particular, are subject to rapid technological change, 
frequent new and enhanced product introductions, product obsolescence and 
changes in user requirements. Our ability to compete successfully in these 
markets depends on our success in applying our expertise and technology to 
existing and emerging satellite and other wireless communications markets. Our 
ability to compete in these markets also depends in large part on our ability to 
successfully develop, introduce and sell new products and enhancements on a 
timely and cost-effective basis that respond to ever changing customer 
requirements. Our ability to successfully introduce new products depends on 
several factors, including: 
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        -   successful integration of various elements of our complex 
            technologies and system architectures, 
 
        -   timely completion and introduction of new product designs, 
 
        -   achievement of acceptable product costs, 
 
        -   timely and efficient implementation of our manufacturing and 
            assembly processes and cost reduction efforts, 
 
        -   establishment of close working relationships with major customers 
            for the design of their new wireless communications systems 
            incorporating our products, 
 
        -   development of competitive products by competitors, and 
 
        -   market acceptance of our new products. 
 
We cannot assure you that our product development efforts for communications 
products will be successful or that any of our new products we develop will 
achieve market acceptance. We may experience difficulties that could delay or 
prevent us from successfully selecting, developing, manufacturing or marketing 
new products or enhancements. We cannot assure you that defects will not be 
found in our products after we begin deliveries, which could result in the delay 
or loss of market acceptance. If we are unable to design, manufacture, 
integrate, and market profitable new products for existing or emerging 
communications markets, it could materially harm our business and impair the 
value of our common stock. 
 
OUR SUCCESS DEPENDS UPON THE GROWTH OF COMMERCIAL WIRELESS COMMUNICATIONS 
MARKETS 
 
        A number of the commercial markets for our products in the wireless 
communications area, including our DAMA products, have only recently developed. 
Because these markets are relatively new, it is difficult to predict the rate at 
which these markets will grow, if at all. If the markets for commercial wireless 
communications products fail to grow, or grow more slowly than anticipated, our 
business could be materially harmed. Conversely, to the extent that growth in 
these markets results in capacity limitations in the wireless communications 
area, it could materially harm our business and impair the value of our common 
stock. 
 
WE DEPEND HEAVILY ON THE VSAT MARKET 
 
        We derived approximately 5% of our product revenues for fiscal year 1999 
and approximately 24% of our product revenues for fiscal year 2000 from sales of 
VSAT communications networks. While the market for VSAT communications networks 
and services has grown steadily since its inception in the mid-1980's, this 
market may not continue to grow or VSAT technology may be replaced by an 
alternative technology. A significant decline in this market or the replacement 
of VSAT technology by an alternative technology could materially harm our 
business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
ANY FAILURE BY US TO EFFICIENTLY AND EFFECTIVELY MANAGE OUR GROWTH COULD 
ADVERSELY AFFECT OUR BUSINESS 
 
        Future expansion of our business may place strains on our personnel, 
financial and other resources. In order to successfully manage our growth we 
must identify, attract, motivate, train and retain highly skilled managerial, 
financial, engineering, business development, sales and marketing and other 
personnel. Competition for these types of personnel is intense. If we fail to 
efficiently manage our growth and compete for these types of personnel, it could 
adversely affect the quality of our services and, in turn, materially harm our 
business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
IF THE SELLING PRICES OF OUR PRODUCTS DECREASE, IT COULD MATERIALLY HARM OUR 
BUSINESS 
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        The average selling prices of wireless communications products 
historically decline over product life cycles. In particular, we expect the 
average selling prices of our products to decline as a result of competitive 
pricing pressures and customers who negotiate discounts based on large unit 
volumes. We also expect that competition in this industry will continue to 
increase. To offset these price decreases, we intend to rely primarily on 
obtaining yield improvements and corresponding cost reductions in the 
manufacturing process of existing products and on the introduction of new 
products with advanced features that can be sold at higher prices. However, we 
cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain any yield improvements or cost 
reductions or introduce any new products in the future. To the extent that we do 
not reduce costs or introduce new products in a timely manner, or our customers' 
products do not achieve market acceptance, it could materially harm our business 
and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
OUR DEVELOPMENT CONTRACTS MAY BE DIFFICULT FOR US TO COMPLY WITH AND MAY EXPOSE 
US TO DAMAGES 
 
        The wireless communications industry is characterized by rapid 
technological change. We are often party to government and commercial contracts 
that involve the development of new products. We derived 57% of our revenues for 
fiscal year 1999 and 46% of our revenues for fiscal year 2000 from these 
development contracts. These contracts typically contain strict performance 
obligations and project milestones. We cannot assure you that we will comply 
with these performance obligations or meet these project milestones. If we are 
unable to comply with these performance obligations or meet these milestones, 
our customers may terminate these contracts and, under some circumstances, 
recover damages or other penalties from us. We are not currently, nor have we 
always been, in compliance with all outstanding performance obligations and 
project milestones. In the past, when we have not complied with the performance 
obligations or project milestones in a contract, generally, the other party has 
not elected to terminate the contract or seek damages from us. However, we 
cannot assure you that in the future other parties will not terminate their 
contracts or seek damages from us. If other parties elect to terminate their 
contracts or seek damages from us, it could materially harm our business and 
impair the value of our common stock. 
 
WE MAY EXPERIENCE LOSSES FROM OUR FIXED-PRICE CONTRACTS 
 
        Approximately 80% of our revenues for fiscal year 1999 and 79% of our 
revenues for fiscal year 2000 were derived from contracts with fixed prices. We 
assume greater financial risk on fixed-price contracts than on other types of 
contracts since if we do not anticipate technical problems, estimate costs 
accurately or control costs during performance of a fixed-price contract, it may 
significantly reduce our net profit or cause a loss on the contract. We believe 
that an increasing percentage of our contracts will be at fixed prices in the 
future. Although we believe that we adequately estimate costs for fixed-price 
contracts, we cannot assure you that our estimates will be adequate or that 
substantial losses on fixed-price contracts will not occur in the future. If we 
are unable to address any of the risks described above, it could materially harm 
our business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
WE EXPECT TO INCREASE OUR RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS WHICH COULD 
SIGNIFICANTLY REDUCE OUR PROFITABILITY 
 
        Our future growth depends on penetrating new markets, adapting existing 
satellite communications products to new applications, and introducing new 
communications products that achieve market acceptance. Accordingly, we are 
actively applying our communications expertise to design and develop new 
hardware and software products and enhance existing products. We expended $7.6 
million in fiscal year 1999 and fiscal year 2000 on research and development 
activities. Since we account for research and development as an operating 
expense, these expenditures will adversely affect our earnings in the near 
future. Additionally, even if adequately funded, our research and development 
program may not produce successful results, which could materially harm our 
business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
OUR RELIANCE ON A LIMITED NUMBER OF THIRD PARTIES TO MANUFACTURE OUR PRODUCTS 
EXPOSES US TO VARIOUS RISKS 
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        Our internal manufacturing capacity is limited and we do not intend to 
expand that capability in the foreseeable future. We rely on a limited number of 
contract manufacturers to produce our products and expect to rely increasingly 
on these manufacturers in the future. Some components, subassemblies and 
services necessary for the manufacture of our products are obtained from a sole 
supplier or a limited group of suppliers. In particular, Texas Instruments is a 
sole source supplier of digital signal processing chips, which are critical 
components in substantially all of our products. In addition, we plan to 
increase our reliance on contract manufacturing by engaging additional contract 
manufacturers to produce the products that are currently being manufactured by 
the Satellite Networks Business. 
 
        Our reliance on contract manufacturers and on sole suppliers or a 
limited group of suppliers involves several risks. We may not be able to obtain 
an adequate supply of required components, and our control over the price, 
timely delivery, reliability and quality of finished products may be reduced. 
The process of manufacturing our products and some of our components and 
subassemblies is extremely complex, and we have in the past experienced and may 
in the future experience delays in the delivery of and quality problems with 
products and components and subassemblies from vendors. Some of the suppliers 
that we rely upon have relatively limited financial and other resources. If we 
are not able to obtain timely deliveries of components and subassemblies of 
acceptable quality or if we are otherwise required to seek alternative sources 
of supply, or to manufacture our finished products or components and 
subassemblies internally, it could delay or prevent us from delivering our 
systems promptly and at high quality. This failure could damage relationships 
with current or prospective customers, which, in turn, could materially harm our 
business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
THE MARKETS WE SERVE ARE HIGHLY COMPETITIVE AND OUR COMPETITORS MAY HAVE GREATER 
RESOURCES THAN US 
 
        The wireless communications industry generally is highly competitive and 
competition is increasing. In addition, because our industry is evolving and 
characterized by rapid technological change, it is difficult for us to predict 
whether, when and by whom new competing technologies, products or services may 
be introduced into our markets. Currently, we face substantial competition from 
domestic and international wireless and ground-based communications service 
providers in the commercial and government industries. In the commercial 
industry, our major competitors include Hughes Network Systems and Gilat 
Satellite Networks Ltd., which have captured a substantial portion of the 
overall VSAT market over the past several years. In the government industry, our 
major competitors include The Titan Corporation and Rockwell International 
Corporation. Many of our competitors and potential competitors have significant 
competitive advantages, including strong customer relationships, more experience 
with regulatory compliance, greater financial and management resources, and 
control over central communications networks. In addition, some of our customers 
continuously evaluate whether to develop and manufacture their own products and 
could elect to compete with us at any time. Increased competition from any of 
these or other entities could materially harm our business and impair the value 
of our common stock. 
 
WE DEPEND ON A LIMITED NUMBER OF KEY EMPLOYEES WHO WOULD BE DIFFICULT TO REPLACE 
 
        We depend on a limited number of key technical, marketing and management 
personnel to manage and operate our business. In particular, we believe that our 
success depends to a significant degree on our ability to attract and retain 
highly skilled personnel, including our President and Chief Executive Officer, 
Mark D. Dankberg, and those highly skilled design, process and test engineers 
involved in the manufacture of existing products and the development of new 
products and processes. The competition for these types of personnel is intense, 
and the loss of key employees could materially harm our business and impair the 
value of our common stock. We do not have employment agreements with any of our 
officers. We have obtained a key person insurance policy on the life of Mr. 
Dankberg. 
 
OUR ABILITY TO PROTECT OUR PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY IS LIMITED AND INFRINGEMENT 
CLAIMS AGAINST US COULD RESTRICT OUR ABILITY TO CONDUCT BUSINESS 
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        Our success depends significantly on our ability to protect our 
proprietary rights to the technologies we use in our products and services. If 
we are unable to protect our proprietary rights adequately, our competitors 
could use the intellectual property that we have developed to enhance their own 
products and services, which could materially harm our business and impair the 
value of our common stock. We currently rely on a combination of patents, trade 
secret laws, copyrights, trademarks, service marks and contractual rights to 
protect our intellectual property. We cannot assure you that the steps we have 
taken to protect our proprietary rights will be adequate. Additionally, the laws 
of some foreign countries in which our products are or may be sold do not 
protect our intellectual property rights to the same extent as do the laws of 
the United States. 
 
        Litigation may be necessary to protect our intellectual property rights 
and trade secrets, to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights 
of others or to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity. We cannot 
assure you that infringement, invalidity, right to use or ownership claims by 
third parties or claims for indemnification resulting from infringement claims 
will not be asserted against us in the future. If any claims or actions are 
asserted against us, we may seek to obtain a license under a third party's 
intellectual property rights. We cannot assure you, however, that a license will 
be available under reasonable terms or at all. Litigation of intellectual 
property claims could be extremely expensive and time consuming, which could 
materially harm our business, regardless of the outcome of the litigation. If 
our products are found to infringe upon the rights of third parties, we may be 
forced to incur substantial costs to develop alternative products. We cannot 
assure you that we would be able to develop alternative products or that if 
these alternative products were developed, they would perform as required or be 
accepted in the applicable markets. If we are unable to address any of the risks 
described above, it could materially harm our business and impair the value of 
our common stock. 
 
ADVERSE REGULATORY CHANGES COULD IMPAIR OUR ABILITY TO SELL PRODUCTS 
 
        Our products are incorporated into wireless communications systems that 
must comply with various government regulations. Regulatory changes, including 
changes in the allocation of available frequency spectrum and in the military 
standards and specifications which define the current satellite networking 
environment, could materially harm our business by (1) restricting development 
efforts by us and our customers, (2) making our current products less attractive 
or obsolete, or (3) increasing the opportunity for additional competition. 
Changes in, or our failure to comply with, applicable regulations could 
materially harm our business and impair the value of our common stock. In 
addition, the increasing demand for wireless communications has exerted pressure 
on regulatory bodies worldwide to adopt new standards for these products and 
services, generally following extensive investigation of and deliberation over 
competing technologies. The delays inherent in this government approval process 
have caused and may continue to cause our customers to cancel, postpone or 
reschedule their installation of communications systems. This, in turn, may have 
a material adverse effect on our sales of products to our customers. 
 
BECAUSE WE CONDUCT BUSINESS INTERNATIONALLY, WE FACE ADDITIONAL RISKS RELATED TO 
GLOBAL POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND CURRENCY FLUCTUATIONS 
 
        We anticipate that international sales will account for an increasing 
percentage of our revenues over the next several years. In addition, 
international sales represent a significant portion of the Satellite Networks 
Business' revenues. Many of these international sales may be denominated in 
foreign currencies. Since we do not currently engage in nor do we currently 
anticipate engaging in foreign currency hedging transactions, a decrease in the 
value of foreign currencies relative to the U.S. dollar could result in losses 
from transactions denominated in foreign currencies. This decrease in value 
could make our products less price-competitive. 
 
        There are additional risks in conducting business internationally, 
including: 
 
        -   unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, 
 
        -   increased cost of localizing systems in foreign countries, 
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        -   increased sales and marketing and research and development expenses, 
 
        -   availability of suitable export financing, 
 
        -   timing and availability of export licenses, 
 
        -   tariffs and other trade barriers, 
 
        -   political and economic instability, 
 
        -   challenges in staffing and managing foreign operations, 
 
        -   difficulties in managing distributors, 
 
        -   potentially adverse tax consequences, and 
 
        -   potential difficulty in collecting accounts receivable. 
 
In addition, some of our customer purchase agreements are governed by foreign 
laws, which may differ significantly from U.S. laws. Therefore, we may be 
limited in our ability to enforce our rights under these agreements and to 
collect damages, if awarded. If we are unable to address any of the risks 
described above, it could materially harm our business and impair the value of 
our common stock. 
 
OUR OPERATING RESULTS HAVE VARIED SIGNIFICANTLY FROM QUARTER TO QUARTER IN THE 
PAST AND, IF THEY CONTINUE TO DO SO, THE MARKET PRICE OF OUR COMMON STOCK COULD 
BE IMPAIRED 
 
        Our operating results have varied significantly from quarter to quarter 
in the past and may continue to do so in the future. As a result, we believe 
that period-to-period comparisons of our revenues are not necessarily meaningful 
and you should not rely upon them as indicators of future performance. It is 
likely that in one or more future quarters our results may fall below the 
expectations of analysts and investors. In this event, the trading price of our 
common stock would likely decrease. The factors that cause our 
quarter-to-quarter operating results to be unpredictable include: 
 
        -   a complex and lengthy procurement process for most of our customers 
            or potential customers, 
 
        -   the difficulty in estimating costs over the life of a contract, 
            which may require adjustment in future periods, 
 
        -   the timing, quantity and mix of products and services sold, 
 
        -   price discounts given to some customers, 
 
        -   market acceptance and the timing of availability of our new 
            products, 
 
        -   the timing of customer payments for significant contracts, 
 
        -   the failure to receive an expected order or a deferral of an order 
            to a later period, and 
 
        -   general economic and political conditions. 
 
If we are unable to address any of the risks described above, it could 
materially harm our business and impair the value of our common stock. 
 
WE FACE POTENTIAL PRODUCT LIABILITY CLAIMS 
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        We may be exposed to legal claims relating to the products we sell or 
the services we provide. Our agreements with our customers generally contain 
terms designed to limit our exposure to potential product liability claims. We 
also maintain a product liability insurance policy for our business. However, 
our insurance may not cover all relevant claims or may not provide sufficient 
coverage. To date, we have not experienced any material product liability 
claims. If our insurance coverage does not cover all costs resulting from future 
product liability claims, it could materially harm our business and impair the 
value of our common stock. 
 
THE LOSS OF SMALL BUSINESS INNOVATION RESEARCH FUNDING STATUS COULD HARM OUR 
BUSINESS 
 
        We have benefited from the Small Business Innovation Research program, 
known as SBIR, through which the government provides research and development 
funding for companies with fewer than 500 employees. As we have grown, our 
reliance on SBIR funding for research and development has significantly 
decreased. Upon completion of the acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business 
we became ineligible for SBIR funding due to the increased size of the combined 
entity. We cannot assure you that our loss of SBIR funding status will not 
materially harm our business. 
 
OUR EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND DIRECTORS OWN A LARGE PERCENTAGE OF OUR COMMON STOCK 
AND EXERT SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCE OVER MATTERS REQUIRING STOCKHOLDER APPROVAL 
 
        As of March 31, 2000 our executive officers and directors and their 
affiliates beneficially owned an aggregate of approximately 32.9 % of our common 
stock. Accordingly, these stockholders may be able to significantly influence 
the board of directors and the outcome of corporate actions requiring 
stockholder approval, such as mergers and acquisitions. These stockholders may 
exercise this ability in a manner that advances their best interests and not 
necessarily those of other stockholders. This ownership interest could also have 
the effect of delaying or preventing a change in control. 
 
WE HAVE IMPLEMENTED ANTI-TAKEOVER PROVISIONS THAT COULD PREVENT AN ACQUISITION 
OF OUR BUSINESS AT A PREMIUM PRICE 
 
        Some of the provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws 
could discourage, delay or prevent an acquisition of our business at a premium 
price. These provisions: 
 
        -   permit the board of directors to increase its own size and fill the 
            resulting vacancies, 
 
        -   provide for a board comprised of three classes of directors with 
            each class serving a staggered three year term, 
 
        -   authorize the issuance of preferred stock in one or more series, and 
 
        -   prohibit stockholder action by written consent. 
 
In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law also imposes 
restrictions on mergers and other business combinations between us and any 
holder of 15% or more of our common stock. 
 
OUR FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS ARE SPECULATIVE AND MAY PROVE TO BE WRONG 
 
        Some of the information under "Item 1. Business," "Item 7. Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and 
elsewhere in this annual report are forward-looking statements. These 
forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about our 
plans, objectives, expectations and intentions and other statements contained in 
this annual report that are not historical facts. When used in this annual 
report, the words "expects," "anticipates," "intends," "plans," "believes," 
"seeks," "estimates" and similar expressions are generally intended to identify 
forward-looking 
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statements. Because these forward-looking statements involve risks and 
uncertainties, there are important factors, including the factors discussed in 
this "Factors that May Affect Future Performance" section of the annual report, 
that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or 
implied by these forward-looking statements. 
 
ITEM 2. FACILITIES 
 
        We are headquartered in facilities consisting of approximately 180,000 
square feet in Carlsbad, California, under a lease expiring in 2009. 
Additionally, we maintain offices in Boston, Massachusetts and Sydney, 
Australia. We anticipate operating additional regional sales offices in 2000 and 
beyond. 
 
        ViaSat Satellite Networks operates from three facilities consisting of 
an aggregate of approximately 141,534 square feet located in Norcross, Georgia. 
These facilities are subject to leases expiring in 2002, with options to extend 
the terms through 2005. ViaSat Satellite Networks also maintains offices or a 
sales presence in the United Kingdom, Australia, China, Chile and Canada. 
 
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 
 
        From time to time, we may be involved in litigation arising in the 
ordinary course of our business. We are not presently a party to any material 
legal proceedings. 
 
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS 
 
        No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the 
quarter ended March 31, 2000. 
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                                     PART II 
 
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
 
        Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq National Market under the 
symbol "VSAT." The following table sets forth the range of high and low sales 
prices on the Nasdaq National Market of our common stock for the periods 
indicated, as reported by Nasdaq. Such quotations represent inter-dealer prices 
without retail markup, markdown or commission and may not necessarily represent 
actual transactions. 
 
 
 
        FISCAL 1999                                     HIGH          LOW 
                                                     ----------    --------- 
                                                               
          First Quarter                                $20.38       $13.38 
          Second Quarter                                20.13         8.25 
          Third Quarter                                 13.00         7.00 
          Fourth Quarter                                13.00         8.75 
 
        FISCAL 2000                                     HIGH          LOW 
                                                     ----------    --------- 
          First Quarter                                $15.75        $7.81 
          Second Quarter                                22.25        13.31 
          Third Quarter                                 55.50        18.06 
          Fourth Quarter                               105.00        43.00 
 
 
 
        To date, we have neither declared nor paid any dividends on our common 
stock. We currently intend to retain all future earnings, if any, for use in the 
operation and development of our business and, therefore, do not expect to 
declare or pay any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. 
As of June 21, 2000, there were 269 holders of record of our common stock. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 
 
        The following table provides selected financial information for us for 
each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended March 31, 2000. The data 
as of and for each of the fiscal years in the five-year period ended March 31, 
2000 have been derived from our audited financial statements and include, in the 
opinion of our management, all adjustments necessary to present fairly the data 
or those periods. You should consider the financial statement data provided 
below in conjunction with "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations" and the financial statements and notes 
which are included elsewhere in this annual report. All amounts shown are in 
thousands, except per share data. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                  YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                                  --------------------- 
                                                 1996           1997          1998          1999          2000 
                                             --------       --------      --------      --------      -------- 
STATEMENT OF INCOME DATA: 
                                                                                        
  Revenues                                   $ 29,017       $ 47,715      $ 64,197      $ 71,509      $ 75,880 
  Cost of revenues                             20,983         33,102        40,899        44,182        45,557 
                                             --------       --------      --------      --------      -------- 
    Gross profit                                8,034         14,613        23,298        27,327        30,323 
  Operating expenses: 
    Selling, general and administrative         3,400          4,752         7,862        10,093        11,269 
    Independent research and 
      development                               2,820          5,087         7,631         7,639         7,590 
                                             --------       --------      --------      --------      -------- 
  Income from operations                        1,814          4,774         7,805         9,595        11,464 
  Net interest income (expense)                  (231)           100           586           584           913 
                                             --------       --------      --------      --------      -------- 
  Income before income taxes                    1,583          4,874         8,391        10,179        12,377 
  Provision (benefit) for income  taxes           (50)         1,702         3,104         3,883         4,471 
                                             --------       --------      --------      --------      -------- 
  Net income                                 $  1,633       $  3,172      $  5,287      $  6,296      $  7,906 
                                             ========       ========      ========      ========      ======== 
 
  Basic net income per share                 $   0.50       $   0.66      $   0.68      $   0.79      $   0.98 
                                             ========       ========      ========      ========      ======== 
  Diluted net income per share               $   0.28       $   0.48      $   0.65      $   0.77      $   0.91 
                                             ========       ========      ========      ========      ======== 
  Shares used in computing basic net 
  income per share                              3,267          4,810         7,801         7,977         8,097 
                                             ========       ========      ========      ========      ======== 
  Shares used in computing diluted net 
  income per share                              5,735          6,642         8,175         8,173         8,711 
                                             ========       ========      ========      ========      ======== 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                       MARCH 31, 
                                             ----------------------------------------------------------- 
                                               1996         1997         1998         1999         2000 
                                             -------      -------      -------      -------      ------- 
BALANCE SHEET DATA: 
                                                                                   
  Cash, cash equivalents and short-term      $ 2,297      $12,673      $ 9,208      $20,793      $19,641 
  investments 
  Working capital                              4,651       20,406       24,276       31,298       38,169 
  Total assets                                13,262       35,674       42,793       50,016       61,930 
  Notes payable, less current portion          1,747        1,428        1,544        1,243          336 
  Total stockholders' equity                   5,217       23,619       29,610       36,847       45,997 
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS 
OF OPERATIONS 
 
GENERAL 
 
        ViaSat was incorporated in 1986 and completed its initial public 
offering in 1996. From 1992 to 2000, our total revenues increased at a 
compounded annual growth rate of approximately 44.5% through internal growth, 
and not through acquisitions. We have achieved 14 consecutive years of 
internally generated revenue growth and 13 consecutive years of profitability. 
Historically, our revenues have been primarily generated from contracts with the 
U.S. Department of Defense. Our revenues from U.S. Department of Defense 
applications have grown despite government budgetary constraints. Our commercial 
business grew from 5% of revenues in fiscal year 1999 to 24% of revenues in 
fiscal year 2000. 
 
        On April 25, 2000, we acquired the Satellite Networks Business, which 
will substantially increase our revenue and transform us into a predominantly 
commercial business. 
 
        Our revenue mix for fiscal year 2000 consisted of U.S. Department of 
Defense (71%), commercial customers (24%), and foreign military sales (5%). To 
date, our ability to grow and maintain our revenues has depended on obtaining 
additional sizable contract awards. It is difficult to predict the probability 
and timing of obtaining these awards. Generally, revenues are recognized as 
services are performed using the percentage of completion method, measured 
primarily by costs incurred to date compared with total estimated costs at 
completion or based on the number of units delivered. We provide for anticipated 
losses on contracts by charges to income during the period in which they are 
first identified. 
 
        Our products and services are provided primarily through three types of 
contracts: fixed-price, time-and-materials and cost-reimbursement contracts. 
Historically, approximately 72.8% for fiscal year 1998, 80.3% for fiscal year 
1999, and 79.1% for fiscal year 2000, of our revenues were derived from 
fixed-price contracts which require us to provide products and services under a 
contract at a stipulated price. Our proportion of fixed-price contracts has 
continued to increase as our commercial business has grown and as government 
customers are increasingly relying on fixed-price awards. The remainder of our 
annual revenue was derived from cost-reimbursement contracts, under which we are 
reimbursed for all actual costs incurred in performing the contract to the 
extent that such costs are within the contract ceiling and allowable under the 
terms of the contract, plus a fee or profit, and from time-and-materials 
contracts which reimburse us for the number of labor hours expended at an 
established hourly rate negotiated in the contract, plus the cost of materials 
utilized in providing such products or services. 
 
        Historically, a significant portion of our revenues has been generated 
from funded research and development contracts. The research and development 
efforts are conducted in direct response to the specific requirements of a 
customer's order and, accordingly, expenditures related to such efforts are 
included in cost of sales when incurred and the related funding (which includes 
a profit component) is included in revenues. Revenues for our funded research 
and development were approximately $25.6 million or 39.9% of our total revenues 
during fiscal year 1998, $40.5 million or 56.6% of our total revenues during 
fiscal year 1999 and $35.0 million or 46.2% of our total revenues during fiscal 
year 2000. 
 
        We invest in independent research and development, which is not directly 
funded by a third party. We expense independent research and development costs 
as they are incurred. Independent research and development expenses consist 
primarily of salaries and other personnel-related expenses, supplies and 
prototype materials related to research and development programs. Independent 
research and development expenses were approximately 11.9% of revenues during 
fiscal year 1998, 10.7% of revenues during fiscal year 1999, and 10.0% of 
revenues during fiscal year 2000. As a government contractor, we are able to 
recover a portion of our independent research and development expenses pursuant 
to our government contracts. The newly acquired Satellite Networks Business has 
relied heavily on self-financed research and development, and we expect to 
decrease our proportion of funded research and development in future periods as 
a result of the acquisition. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
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        The following table presents, as a percentage of total revenues, income 
statement data for the periods indicated. 
 
 
 
 
                                                             YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                      -------------------------------- 
                                                        1998         1999         2000 
                                                      ------       ------       ------ 
                                                                         
Revenues .......................................       100.0%       100.0%       100.0% 
Cost of revenues ...............................        63.7         61.8         60.0 
                                                      ------       ------       ------ 
  Gross profit .................................        36.3         38.2         40.0 
Operating expenses: 
  Selling, general and administrative ..........        12.2         14.1         14.9 
  Independent research and development .........        11.9         10.7         10.0 
                                                      ------       ------       ------ 
Income from operations .........................        12.2         13.4         15.1 
Income before income taxes .....................        13.1         14.2         16.3 
Provision for income taxes .....................         4.8          5.4          5.9 
Net income .....................................         8.2          8.8         10.4 
 
 
 
FISCAL YEAR 2000 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 1999 
 
        Revenues. Revenues increased 6.1% from $71.5 million for fiscal year 
1999 to $75.9 million for fiscal year 2000. This was primarily due to an 
increase in our commercial revenues as a result of our recent Science 
Applications International Corporation (SAIC) and Star Cruises Management Ltd. 
commercial broadband contracts, offset in part by lower revenues from volumes of 
selected UHF defense products. 
 
        Gross Profit. Gross profit increased 11.0% from $27.3 million (38.2% of 
revenues) for fiscal year 1999 to $30.3 million (40.0% of revenues) for fiscal 
year 2000. The increase in gross profit was primarily due to an improvement in 
our commercial margins as a result of greater commercial volumes and increased 
operating efficiencies in the commercial business. 
 
        Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and 
administrative expenses increased 11.7% from $10.1 million (14.1% of revenues) 
for fiscal year 1999 to $11.3 million (14.9% of revenues) for fiscal year 2000. 
The increase in selling, general and administrative expenses reflects increased 
expenditures relating to the marketing of commercial products, increased 
business development and bid and proposal expenses for defense programs, and 
additional administrative staffing. Selling, general and administrative expenses 
consist primarily of personnel costs and expenses for business development, 
marketing and sales, bid and proposal, finance, contract administration and 
general management. Some selling, general and administrative expenses are 
difficult to predict and vary based on specific government and commercial sales 
opportunities. 
 
        Independent Research and Development. Independent research and 
development expenses remained at $7.6 million for both fiscal years but 
decreased as a percent of revenues (10.7% of revenues for fiscal 1999 and 10.0% 
for fiscal 2000.) The decrease as a percentage of sales resulted in part from 
the award of funded development contracts related to our commercial products, 
and from the overall increase in sales. 
 
        Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased from $250,000 for fiscal 
year 1999 to $157,000 for fiscal year 2000. Interest expense relates to loans 
for the purchase of capital equipment, which are generally three year 
variable-rate term loans. Total outstanding equipment loans were $2.5 million at 
March 31, 1999 and $1.2 million at March 31, 2000. 
 
        Interest Income. Interest income increased from $834,000 for fiscal year 
1999 to $1.1 million for fiscal year 2000. This increase resulted from higher 
average invested cash balances and higher yields, offset in part by a decrease 
in interest income from overdue government receivables from $102,000 for fiscal 
year 1999 to $45,000 for fiscal year 2000. 
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        Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate decreased from 
38% for fiscal year 1999 to 36% for fiscal year 2000. The decrease relates 
primarily to greater than anticipated research and development tax credits in 
prior years. 
 
FISCAL YEAR 1999 COMPARED TO FISCAL YEAR 1998 
 
        Revenues. Our revenues increased 11.4% from $64.2 million in fiscal year 
1998 to $71.5 million in fiscal year 1999. This increase was primarily due to 
increases in revenues generated by government development and production 
programs. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in revenues 
related to our commercial business as we shifted our commercial focus from 
telephony applications to pursue larger commercial data network opportunities. 
 
        Gross Profit. Gross profit increased 17.3% from $23.3 million (36.3% of 
revenues) in fiscal year 1998 to $27.3 million (38.2% of revenues) in fiscal 
year 1999. The increase in gross profit was primarily the result of increased 
recovery of independent research and development expenditures and a mix of 
higher margin products in our sales for fiscal year 1999 relative to the prior 
year. In addition, some long-term contracts realized higher profits than 
initially expected. The increases were offset in part by a write-down of 
StarWire inventory to the lower of cost or market in connection with the shift 
in our commercial business strategy. 
 
        Selling, General and Administrative Expenses. Selling, general and 
administrative expenses increased 28.4% from $7.9 million (12.2% of revenues) in 
fiscal year 1998 to $10.1 million (14.1% of revenues) in fiscal year 1999. We 
increased our business development and administrative staffing in support of 
both defense and commercial programs. Bid and proposal expenses increased from 
$1.5 million in fiscal year 1998 to $1.8 million in fiscal year 1999. 
 
        Independent Research and Development. Independent research and 
development expenses remained at $7.6 million for both years, but decreased as a 
percentage of revenues from 11.9% of revenues in fiscal year 1998 to 10.7% of 
revenues in fiscal year 1999. The decrease as a percentage of sales resulted 
from the overall increase in sales. 
 
        Interest Expense. Interest expense increased 18.5% from $211,000 in 
fiscal year 1998 to $250,000 in fiscal year 1999. Interest expense relates to 
loans for the purchase of capital equipment. Total outstanding equipment loans 
were $2.6 million at March 31, 1998 and $2.5 million at March 31, 1999. 
 
        Interest Income. Interest income increased 4.6% from $797,000 in fiscal 
year 1998 to $834,000 in fiscal year 1999. Interest income relates to interest 
earned on cash and short-term investments, as well as overdue government 
receivables where interest income increased from $17,000 in fiscal year 1998 to 
$102,000 in fiscal year 1999. 
 
        Provision for Income Taxes. Our effective income tax rate increased from 
37% in fiscal year 1998 to 38% in fiscal year 1999. Our effective income tax 
rate increased due to expected limitations on our research and development tax 
credits. 
 
BACKLOG 
 
        We had firm backlog of $44.9 million at March 31, 1999, of which $36.8 
million was funded, not including options of $45.2 million. As of March 31, 
2000, we had firm backlog of $88.2 million, of which $58.6 million was funded. 
Of the $88.2 million in firm backlog at March 31, 2000, approximately $43.0 
million is expected to be delivered in fiscal year 2001, approximately $29.6 
million is expected to be delivered in fiscal year 2002 and the balance is 
expected to be delivered in fiscal year 2003 and thereafter. The increase in 
backlog results from growth in total awards for both commercial and defense 
products from $43.7 million for fiscal year 1999 to $119.3 million for fiscal 
year 2000. We include in our backlog only those orders for which we have 
accepted purchase orders. Our firm backlog does not include contract options of 
$53.3 million. These options include $44.6 million of Indefinite 
Delivery/Indefinite Quantity 
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(IDIQ) contracts for our UHF DAMA satellite communications products and $6.6 
million of IDIQ contracts for our other products. 
 
        Backlog is not necessarily indicative of future sales. A majority of our 
backlog from U.S. military contracts scheduled for delivery can be terminated at 
the convenience of the government since orders are often made substantially in 
advance of delivery, and our contracts typically provide that orders may be 
terminated with limited or no penalties. In addition, purchase orders may 
present product specifications that would require us to complete additional 
product development. A failure to develop products meeting such specifications 
could lead to a termination of the related purchase order. 
 
        The backlog amounts as presented are comprised of funded and unfunded 
components. Funded backlog represents the sum of contract amounts for which 
funds have been specifically obligated by customers to contracts. Unfunded 
backlog represents future amounts that customers may obligate over the specified 
contract performance periods. Our customers allocate funds for expenditures on 
long-term contracts on a periodic basis. Our ability to realize revenues from 
government contracts in backlog is dependent upon adequate funding for such 
contracts. Although funding of our government contracts is not within our 
control, our experience indicates that actual contract fundings have ultimately 
been approximately equal to the aggregate amounts of the contracts. 
 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
 
        We have financed our operations to date primarily with cash flows from 
operations, bank line of credit financing, equity financing and loans for the 
purchase of capital equipment. Cash provided by operating activities was $3.7 
million and $13.3 million for fiscal year 2000 and fiscal year 1999, 
respectively. The relative decrease in cash provided from operating activities 
for fiscal year 2000 compared to the prior year was primarily due to an increase 
in accounts receivable. The increase in accounts receivable resulted from the 
high volume of sales in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2000, and the timing 
of milestone billings on certain defense contracts. Days sales outstanding were 
higher during fiscal year 2000 due in part to delays in payments on some 
government contracts. The payments were delayed due to processing delays at the 
government paying offices, but have since been paid. 
 
        Cash provided from investing activities in fiscal year 2000 was $9.8 
million as compared to cash used in investing activities for the fiscal year 
1999 of $11.4 million. During fiscal year 2000, $14.7 million in short-term 
investments matured and were reinvested into investments classified as cash 
equivalents. This was offset in part by $4.8 million of purchases of property 
and equipment in fiscal year 2000, primarily consisting of test equipment and 
computers. 
 
        Cash provided by financing activities for fiscal years 2000 and 
1999 was $25,000 and $799,000, respectively. This decrease was primarily the 
result of reduced borrowings for equipment financing, offset in part by 
increased proceeds from common stock. 
 
        At March 31, 1999, we had $6.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, 
$14.8 million in short-term investments, $31.3 million in working capital and 
$2.5 million in long-term debt which consisted of equipment financing. At March 
31, 2000, we had $19.6 million in cash, cash equivalents and short-term 
investments, $38.2 million in working capital and $1.2 million in equipment 
financing. We had no outstanding borrowings under our line of credit at March 
31, 2000. 
 
        We received a commitment from Union Bank of California and Washington 
Mutual Bank to provide a total credit facility of $50.0 million for to the 
acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business. This facility also provided 
for a secured revolving credit facility of $25 million for general working 
capital. We did not use the acquisition financing and are now in the process of 
negotiating the terms of the $25 million revolving line of credit facility. 
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        Our future capital requirements will depend upon many factors, including 
the progress of our research and development efforts, expansion of our marketing 
efforts, the nature and timing of orders and the ability to improve the 
financial results of the Satellite Networks Business. We believe that our 
current cash balances and net cash expected to be provided by operating 
activities will be sufficient to meet our working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements for at least the next 12 months. We invest our cash in 
excess of current operating requirements in short-term, interest-bearing, 
investment-grade securities. Our working capital requirements are likely to 
increase as a result of the acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business. 
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SUMMARIZED QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED) 
 
        The following financial information reflects all normal recurring 
adjustments which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for the fair 
statement of the results for the interim periods. Summarized quarterly data for 
fiscal years 1999 and 2000 are as follows (in thousands, except per share data): 
 
 
 
 
                                       1st Quarter      2nd Quarter      3rd Quarter     4th Quarter 
                                       -----------      -----------      -----------     ----------- 
1999 
                                                                                
Revenues                                 $16,304          $18,037          $18,928         $18,240 
Gross profit                               6,472            6,809            6,527           7,519 
Income from operations                     2,177            2,127            2,485           2,806 
Net income                                 1,389            1,377            1,657           1,873 
Basic net income per share                  0.18             0.17             0.21            0.23 
Diluted net income per share                0.17             0.17             0.20            0.23 
 
2000 
Revenues                                 $17,035          $17,017          $18,041         $23,787 
Gross  profit                              7,326            7,459            7,548           7,990 
Income from operations                     2,788            2,736            2,616           3,324 
Net income                                 1,805            1,804            2,007           2,290 
Basic net income per share                  0.22             0.22             0.25            0.28 
Diluted net income per share                0.22             0.22             0.23            0.26 
 
 
 
 
 
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK. 
 
        Our market risks at March 31, 2000, pursuant to Item 7A are minimal and 
therefore are not separately disclosed. 
 
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
        Our financial statements at March 31, 2000 and 1999, and for each of the 
three years in the period ended March 31, 2000, and the Report of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Independent Accountants, are included in this Report 
on pages F-1 through F-14. 
 
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND 
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 
 
        None. 
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                                    PART III 
 
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT 
 
        The information required by this item will be set forth under the 
captions "Election of Directors" and "Executive Officers" in our definitive 
Proxy Statement to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in 
connection with our 2000 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the "Proxy Statement"), 
which is incorporated by reference herein. 
 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 
 
        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to 
the Proxy Statement under the heading "Executive Compensation." 
 
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
 
        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to 
the Proxy Statement under the heading "Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial 
Owners and Management." 
 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS 
 
        The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to 
the Proxy Statement under the heading "Certain Transactions." 
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                                     PART IV 
 
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, SCHEDULES, AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
 
 
                                                                                  PAGE 
                                                                                 NUMBER 
                                                                                 ------ 
                                                                              
 (a)    Documents filed as part of the report: 
        (1)           Report of Independent Accountants                            F-1 
                      Balance Sheet as of March 31, 1999 and 2000                  F-2 
                      Statement of Income for the years ended March 31, 1998, 
                      1999 and 2000                                                F-3 
                      Statement of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 
                      1998, 1999 and 2000                                          F-4 
                      Statement of Stockholders' Equity  for the years ended 
                      March 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000                                F-5 
                      Notes to Financial Statements                                F-6 
 
 
        (2) Schedule II -- Valuation and Qualifying Accounts 
        All other schedules are omitted because they are not applicable or the 
        required information is shown in the financial statements or notes 
        thereto. 
 
        (3) Exhibits 
 
 
 
      EXHIBIT 
      NUMBERS                   DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT 
      -------                   ---------------------- 
             
        2.1    Asset Purchase Agreement, dated January 18, 2000, by and between 
               the Company and Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.(1) 
 
        3.1    Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation.(2) 
 
        3.2    Bylaws.(2) 
 
        4.1    Form of Common Stock Certificate.(2) 
 
        10.1   Warrants to purchase shares of common stock of the Company issued 
               to Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.(3) 
 
        10.2   Form of Invention and Confidential Disclosure Agreement by and 
               between the Company and each employee of the Company.(2) 
 
        10.3   ViaSat, Inc. 1993 Stock Option Plan (the "1993 Stock Option 
               Plan").(2) 
 
        10.4   First Amendment to the 1993 Stock Option Plan.(4) 
 
        10.5   Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1993 Stock 
               Option Plan.(2) 
 
        10.6   Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1993 Stock 
               Option Plan.(2) 
 
        10.7   The 1996 Equity Participation Plan of ViaSat, Inc. (the "1996 
               Equity Participation Plan").(5) 
 
        10.8   Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement under the 1996 Equity 
               Participation Plan.(2) 
 
        10.9   Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Agreement under the 1996 Equity 
               Participation Plan.(2) 
 
        10.10  The ViaSat, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan.(2) 
 
        10.11  ViaSat, Inc. 401(k) Profit Sharing Plan.(2) 
 
        10.12  Loan Agreement, dated as of September 15, 1995, by and between 
               the Company and Union Bank.(2) 
 
        10.13  Waiver and First Amendment to Loan Agreement, dated as of March 
               31, 1997, by and between the Company and Union Bank.(2) 
 
        10.14  Lease, dated March 24, 1998, by and between W9/LNP Real Estate 
               Limited Partnership and the Company (6155 El Camino Real, 
               Carlsbad, California).(6) 
 
        10.15  Supply & Services Contract, dated June 2, 1996, by and between 
               HCL Comnet Systems and Services Limited and the Company.(2) 
 
        10.16  Award/Contract, effective March 29, 1996, as amended, issued by 
               Electronic Systems Center/MCK Air Force Materiel Command, USAF to 
               the Company.(2) 
 



        10.17  Amendment of Award/Contract, effective February 24, 1997, issued 
               by Electronic 
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      EXHIBIT 
      NUMBERS                   DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT 
      -------                   ---------------------- 
             
               Systems Center/MCK Air Force Materiel Command, USAF to the 
               Company.(4) 
 
        10.18  Award/Contract, effective October 2, 1995, issued by 
               Electronic Systems Center/MCK Air Force Materiel Command, 
               USAF to the Company.(2) 
 
        10.19  Award/Contract, effective September 29, 1993, as amended, issued 
               by Information Technology Acquisition Center to the Company.(2) 
 
        10.20  Award Contract, effective September 21, 1994, as amended, issued 
               by Technical Contract Management Office to the Company.(2) 
 
        10.21  Amendment to Lease, dated January 4, 1999, by and between 
               Prentiss Properties Acquisition Partners, L.P. and the Company 
               (The Campus, Carlsbad, California).(7) 
 
        10.22  Amendment to Lease, dated January 4, 1999, by and between 
               Prentiss Properties Acquisition Partners, L.P. and the Company 
               (5962 La Place Court, Carlsbad, California).(7) 
 
        10.23  Lease, dated June 18, 1999, by and between Nagog Development 
               Company and the Company (125 Nagog Park, Acton, Massachusetts, 
               01720).(8) 
 
        21.1   Subsidiaries.(8) 
 
        23.1   Consent of Independent Accountants.(8) 
 
        27.1   Financial Data Schedule.(8) 
 
 
- ---------- 
 
(1)     Incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on 
        Form S-3 filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
        "Commission") on March 6, 2000 (File No. 333-31758), as amended by 
        Amendment No. 1 filed with the Commission on March 31, 2000 and 
        Amendment No. 2 filed with the Commission on April 18, 2000. 
 
(2)     Incorporated by reference to the Company's Registration Statement on 
        Form S-1 filed with the Commission on October 1, 1996 (File No. 
        333-13183), as amended by Amendment No. 1 filed with the Commission on 
        November 5, 1996, Amendment No. 2 filed with the Commission on November 
        20, 1996, and Amendment No. 3 filed with the Commission on November 22, 
        1996. 
 
(3)     Incorporated by reference to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K 
        filed with the Commission on May 8, 2000 (File No. 0-21767). 
 
(4)     Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
        for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997. 
 
(5)     Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Company's Proxy Statement 
        relating to its 1998 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. 
 
(6)     Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
        for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1998. 
 
(7)     Incorporated by reference to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K 
        for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999. 
 
(8)     Filed herewith. 
 
 
        (b)    REPORTS ON FORM 8-K 
 
        A Current Report on Form 8-K was filed with the Commission on January 
19, 2000 regarding the Company's acquisition of the Satellite Networks Business 
from Scientific-Atlanta. 
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        (c)    EXHIBITS 
 
        The exhibits required by this Item are listed under Item 14(a)(3). 
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                                   SIGNATURES 
 
        Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on 
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 
 
Date:   June 28, 2000 
 
 
                                             ViaSat, Inc. 
 
                                             By:  /s/  MARK D. DANKBERG 
                                                  ------------------------------ 
                                                  Mark D. Dankberg 
                                                  Chairman, President and Chief 
                                                  Executive Officer 
 
 
        Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the 
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 
 
 
 
            SIGNATURE                              TITLE                      DATE 
            ---------                              -----                      ---- 
                                                                     
/s/ MARK D. DANKBERG                    Chairman of the Board,            June 28, 2000 
- ---------------------------------       President and Chief 
Mark D. Dankberg                        Executive Officer (Principal 
                                        Executive Officer) 
 
 
/s/ RICHARD BALDRIDGE                   Executive Vice President,         June 28, 2000 
- ---------------------------------       Chief Financial Officer 
Richard Baldridge                       and Chief Operating Officer 
                                        (Principal Financial and 
                                        Accounting Officer) 
 
 
/s/ ROBERT W. JOHNSON                   Director                          June 28, 2000 
- --------------------------------- 
Robert W. Johnson 
 
 
/s/ JEFFREY M. NASH                     Director                          June 28, 2000 
- --------------------------------- 
Jeffrey M. Nash 
 
 
/s/ B. ALLEN LAY                        Director                          June 28, 2000 
- --------------------------------- 
B. Allen Lay 
 
 
/s/ JAMES F. BUNKER                     Director                          June 28, 2000 
- --------------------------------- 
James F. Bunker 
 
 
/s/ WILLIAM A. OWENS                    Director                          June 28, 2000 
- --------------------------------- 
William A. Owens 
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                        REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of ViaSat, Inc. 
 
        In our opinion, the accompanying balance sheet and the related 
statements of income, of cash flows, of stockholders' equity present fairly, in 
all material respects, the financial position of ViaSat, Inc., at March 31, 1999 
and 2000, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended March 31, 2000, in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States. In addition, in our opinion, 
the financial statement schedule presents fairly, in all material respects, the 
information set forth therein when read in conjunction with the related 
financial statements. These financial statements and financial statement 
schedule are the responsibility of the Company's management; our responsibility 
is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial statement 
schedule based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in 
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States which 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit 
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles 
used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall 
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a 
reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above. 
 
 
PRICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP 
 
San Diego, California 
May 16, 2000 
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                                  VIASAT, INC. 
 
                                 BALANCE SHEET 
 
 
 
                                                                              AS OF           AS OF 
                                                                            MARCH 31,        MARCH 31, 
                                                                               1999             2000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
                                                                                       
ASSETS 
Current assets: 
  Cash and cash equivalents .........................................      $ 6,005,000      $19,520,000 
  Short-term investments ............................................       14,788,000          121,000 
  Accounts receivable ...............................................       16,176,000       26,268,000 
  Inventory .........................................................        2,525,000        3,122,000 
  Deferred income taxes .............................................        2,358,000        1,813,000 
  Other current assets ..............................................          446,000        2,167,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
       Total current assets .........................................       42,298,000       53,011,000 
Property and equipment, net .........................................        6,630,000        8,164,000 
Other assets ........................................................        1,088,000          755,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
       Total assets .................................................      $50,016,000      $61,930,000 
                                                                           ===========      =========== 
 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Current liabilities: 
  Accounts payable ..................................................      $ 3,754,000      $ 8,934,000 
  Accrued liabilities ...............................................        6,027,000        5,001,000 
  Current portion of notes payable ..................................        1,219,000          907,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
       Total current liabilities ....................................       11,000,000       14,842,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
Notes payable .......................................................        1,243,000          336,000 
Other liabilities ...................................................          926,000          755,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
       Total long-term liabilities ..................................        2,169,000        1,091,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 10 & 11) 
Stockholders' equity: 
  Series A, convertible preferred stock, $.0001 par value; 5,000,000 
     shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 
     1999 and 2000, respectively 
  Common stock, $.0001 par value, 25,000,000 shares 
     authorized; 8,034,203 and 8,196,604 shares issued and 
     outstanding at March 31, 1999 and 2000, respectively ...........            1,000            1,000 
  Paid in capital ...................................................       17,689,000       18,933,000 
  Retained earnings .................................................       19,157,000       27,063,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
       Total stockholders' equity ...................................       36,847,000       45,997,000 
                                                                           -----------      ----------- 
       Total liabilities and stockholders' equity ...................      $50,016,000      $61,930,000 
                                                                           ===========      =========== 
 
 
 
                See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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                                  VIASAT, INC. 
 
                               STATEMENT OF INCOME 
 
 
 
                                                                           YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                              -------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                  1998               1999               2000 
                                                              ------------       ------------       ------------ 
                                                                                            
Revenues ...............................................      $ 64,197,000       $ 71,509,000       $ 75,880,000 
Cost of revenues .......................................        40,899,000         44,182,000         45,557,000 
                                                              ------------       ------------       ------------ 
  Gross profit .........................................        23,298,000         27,327,000         30,323,000 
Operating expenses: 
  Selling, general and administrative ..................         7,862,000         10,093,000         11,269,000 
  Independent research and development .................         7,631,000          7,639,000          7,590,000 
                                                              ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Income from operations .................................         7,805,000          9,595,000         11,464,000 
Other income (expense): 
  Interest income ......................................           797,000            834,000          1,070,000 
  Interest expense .....................................          (211,000)          (250,000)          (157,000) 
                                                              ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Income before income taxes .............................         8,391,000         10,179,000         12,377,000 
Provision for income taxes .............................         3,104,000          3,883,000          4,471,000 
                                                              ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Net income .............................................      $  5,287,000       $  6,296,000       $  7,906,000 
                                                              ============       ============       ============ 
Basic net income per share .............................      $       0.68       $       0.79       $       0.98 
                                                              ============       ============       ============ 
Diluted net income per share ...........................      $       0.65       $       0.77       $       0.91 
                                                              ============       ============       ============ 
Shares used in computing basic net income per share ....         7,801,212          7,976,848          8,096,500 
                                                              ============       ============       ============ 
Shares used in computing diluted net income per share ..         8,174,994          8,172,660          8,711,222 
                                                              ============       ============       ============ 
 
 
                See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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                                  VIASAT, INC. 
 
                             STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 
 
                                                                                      YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                                      -------------------------------------------------- 
                                                                          1998               1999               2000 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
                                                                                                    
Cash flows from operating activities: 
  Net income ...................................................      $  5,287,000       $  6,296,000       $  7,906,000 
  Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash 
     provided by (used in) operating activities: 
     Depreciation ..............................................         2,182,000          2,853,000          3,292,000 
     Deferred income taxes .....................................          (811,000)        (1,082,000)           843,000 
  Increase (decrease) in cash resulting from changes in: 
     Accounts receivable .......................................        (8,741,000)         2,880,000        (10,092,000) 
     Inventory .................................................          (209,000)         2,162,000           (597,000) 
     Other assets ..............................................         1,078,000             46,000         (1,686,000) 
     Accounts payable ..........................................          (289,000)          (801,000)         5,180,000 
     Accrued liabilities .......................................         1,318,000            940,000         (1,026,000) 
     Other liabilities .........................................            58,000            (11,000)          (171,000) 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
       Net cash provided by (used in) operating 
          activities ...........................................          (127,000)        13,283,000          3,649,000 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Cash flows from investing activities: 
  Purchases of short-term investments, net .....................        (5,918,000)        (8,870,000)        14,667,000 
  Purchases of property and equipment ..........................        (4,083,000)        (2,497,000)        (4,826,000) 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
       Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .....       (10,001,000)       (11,367,000)         9,841,000 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Cash flows from financing activities: 
  Tax benefit from exercise of stock options ...................                --             82,000             68,000 
  Proceeds from issuance of notes payable ......................         1,448,000          1,092,000                 -- 
  Repayment of notes payable ...................................        (1,407,000)        (1,234,000)        (1,219,000) 
  Proceeds from issuance of common stock .......................           704,000            859,000          1,176,000 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
       Net cash provided by financing 
          activities ...........................................           745,000            799,000             25,000 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash 
  equivalents ..................................................        (9,383,000)         2,715,000         13,515,000 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .................        12,673,000          3,290,000          6,005,000 
                                                                      ------------       ------------       ------------ 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year .......................      $  3,290,000       $  6,005,000       $ 19,520,000 
                                                                      ============       ============       ============ 
Supplemental information: 
  Cash paid for interest .......................................      $    211,000       $    250,000       $    157,000 
                                                                      ============       ============       ============ 
  Cash paid for income taxes ...................................      $  3,857,000       $  4,263,000       $  4,349,000 
                                                                      ============       ============       ============ 
 
 
 
                See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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                                  VIASAT, INC. 
 
                        STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 
 
 
 
                                                       PREFERRED STOCK                  COMMON STOCK 
                                                 -----------------------------   ----------------------------- 
                                                   NUMBER OF                       NUMBER OF                        PAID IN 
                                                    SHARES          AMOUNT          SHARES          AMOUNT          CAPITAL 
                                                 -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------
                                                                                                   
Balance at March 31, 1997 .....................             --              --       7,742,273           1,000      16,124,000
  Exercise of stock options ...................                                        126,273                         149,000
  Issuance for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ...                                         52,092                         475,000
  Payment for shares subscribed ............... 
  Net income .................................. 
                                                 -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------
Balance at March 31, 1998 .....................             --              --       7,920,638           1,000      16,748,000
  Tax benefit from exercise of stock options ..                                                                         82,000
  Exercise of stock options ...................                                         60,481                         334,000
  Issuance for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ...                                         53,084                         525,000
  Net income .................................. 
                                                 -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------
Balance at March 31, 1999 .....................             --              --       8,034,203           1,000      17,689,000
  Tax benefit from exercise of stock options ..                                                                         68,000
  Exercise of stock options ...................                                        114,224                         681,000
  Issuance for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ...                                         48,177                         495,000
  Net income .................................. 
                                                 -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------   -------------
Balance at March 31, 2000 .....................             --              --       8,196,604   $       1,000   $  18,933,000
                                                 =============   =============   =============   =============   =============
 
 
 
 
                                                    STOCKHOLDERS' 
                                                        NOTES         RETAINED 
                                                      RECEIVABLE       EARNINGS 
                                                    -------------   ------------- 
                                                               
Balance at March 31, 1997 .....................           (80,000)      7,574,000 
  Exercise of stock options ................... 
  Issuance for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ... 
  Payment for shares subscribed ...............            80,000 
  Net income ..................................                         5,287,000 
                                                    -------------   ------------- 
Balance at March 31, 1998 .....................                --      12,861,000 
  Tax benefit from exercise of stock options .. 
  Exercise of stock options ................... 
  Issuance for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ... 
  Net income ..................................                         6,296,000 
                                                    -------------   ------------- 
Balance at March 31, 1999 .....................                --      19,157,000 
  Tax benefit from exercise of stock options .. 
  Exercise of stock options ................... 
  Issuance for Employee Stock Purchase Plan ... 
  Net income ..................................                         7,906,000 
                                                    -------------   ------------- 
Balance at March 31, 2000 .....................                --   $  27,063,000 
                                                    =============   ============= 
 
 
 
                See accompanying notes to financial statements. 
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                                  VIASAT, INC. 
 
                          NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NOTE 1 -- THE COMPANY AND A SUMMARY OF ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The Company 
 
        ViaSat, Inc. (the "Company") designs, produces and markets advanced 
digital satellite telecommunications and wireless signal processing equipment. 
 
Management Estimates and Assumptions 
 
        The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting 
period. Estimates have been prepared on the basis of the most current and best 
available information and actual results could differ from those estimates. 
 
Cash Equivalents 
 
        Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with original 
maturities of 90 days or less. 
 
Short-term Investments 
 
        At March 31, 1999 and 2000, the Company held investments in investment 
grade debt securities with various maturities. Management determines the 
appropriate classification of its investments in debt securities at the time of 
purchase and has designated all of its investments as held to maturity. The 
Company's investments in these securities as of March 31, 1999 and 2000 totaled 
$18,686,000 and $16,769,000, respectively. The Company has included $3,898,000 
and $16,648,000 of these securities in cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 
1999 and 2000, respectively, as they have original maturities of less than 90 
days. The remaining $14,788,000 and $121,000 as of March 31, 1999 and 2000, 
respectively, have been classified as short-term investments. 
 
Revenue Recognition 
 
        The majority of the Company's revenues are derived from services 
performed under a variety of contracts including cost-plus-fixed fee, 
fixed-price, and time and materials contracts. Revenues from the United States 
Government Department of Defense and its prime contractors amounted to 
$58,249,000, $65,478,000 and $53,859,000 for the years ended March 31, 1998, 
1999 and 2000, respectively. Revenues from commercial customers amounted to 
$5,941,000, $3,836,000, and $18,409,000 for the years ended March 31, 1998, 1999 
and 2000 respectively. Revenues to customers in foreign countries are not 
significant. The Company's five largest contracts (by revenues) generated 
approximately 65%, 61% and 35% of the Company's total revenues for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. 
 
        Generally, revenues are recognized as services are performed using the 
percentage of completion method, measured primarily by costs incurred to date 
compared with total estimated costs at completion or based on the number of 
units delivered. The Company provides for anticipated losses on contracts by a 
charge to income during the period in which they are first identified. 
 
        Contract costs, including indirect costs, are subject to audit and 
negotiations with Government representatives. These audits have been completed 
and agreed upon through fiscal year 1996. Contract 
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revenues and accounts receivable are stated at amounts which are expected to be 
realized upon final settlement. 
 
Unbilled Accounts Receivable 
 
        Unbilled receivables consist of costs and fees earned and billable on 
contract completion or other specified events. The majority of unbilled 
receivables is expected to be collected within one year. 
 
Concentration of Risk 
 
        Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to 
significant concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash equivalents, 
short-term investments, and trade accounts receivable which are generally not 
collateralized. The Company limits its exposure to credit loss by placing its 
cash equivalents and short-term investments with high credit quality financial 
institutions and investing in high quality short-term debt instruments. 
Concentrations of credit risk with respect to receivables are generally limited 
because the Company performs ongoing credit evaluations. The Company also 
maintains reserves for potential credit losses, which it considers adequate to 
cover such losses. 
 
        The Company relies on a limited number of contract manufacturers to 
produce its products. 
 
Inventory 
 
        Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market, cost being 
determined by the first-in, first-out method. 
 
Independent research and development 
 
        Independent research and development, which is not directly funded by a 
third party, is expensed as incurred. Independent research and development 
expenses consist primarily of salaries and other personnel-related expenses, 
supplies and prototype materials related to research and development programs. 
 
        Software product development costs incurred from the time technological 
feasibility is reached until the product is available for general release to 
customers are capitalized and reported at the lower of cost or net realizable 
value. Through March 31, 2000, no significant amounts were incurred subsequent 
to reaching technological feasibility. 
 
Property and Equipment 
 
        Equipment, computers, and furniture and fixtures are recorded at cost, 
and depreciated over estimated useful lives of three to seven years using the 
straight-line method. Additions to property and equipment together with major 
renewals and betterments are capitalized. Maintenance, repairs and minor 
renewals and betterments are charged to expense. When assets are sold or 
otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation or 
amortization are removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or loss is 
recognized. 
 
Long-lived Assets 
 
        The Company assesses potential impairments to its long-lived assets when 
there is evidence that events or changes in circumstances have made recovery of 
the asset's carrying value unlikely. An impairment loss would be recognized when 
the sum of the expected future undiscounted net cash flows is less than the 
carrying amount of the asset. No such impairment losses have been identified by 
the Company. 
 
Warranty Reserves 
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        The Company provides limited warranties on certain of its products for 
periods of up to three years. The Company records warranty reserves when 
products are shipped based upon an estimate of total warranty costs, with 
amounts expected to be incurred within twelve months classified as a current 
liability. 
 
Income Taxes 
 
        Current income tax expense is the amount of income taxes expected to be 
payable for the current year. A deferred income tax asset or liability is 
established for the expected future tax consequences resulting from differences 
in the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and for the 
expected future tax benefit to be derived from tax credit and loss 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when, in 
the opinion of management, it is more likely than not that some portion or all 
of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. Deferred income tax expense 
(benefit) is the net change during the year in the deferred income tax asset or 
liability. 
 
Stock Based Compensation 
 
        The Company measures compensation expense for its stock-based employee 
compensation plans using the intrinsic value method and provides pro forma 
disclosures of net income and earnings per share as if the fair value method had 
been applied in measuring compensation expense. 
 
Earnings Per Share 
 
        Basic earnings per share is computed based upon the weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per 
share is based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding and 
dilutive common stock equivalents during the period. Common stock equivalents 
include options granted under the Company's stock option plans which are 
included in the earnings per share calculations using the treasury stock method 
and common shares expected to be issued under the Company's employee stock 
purchase plan 
 
Fair Value of Financial Instruments 
 
        At March 31, 2000, the carrying amounts of the Company's financial 
instruments, including cash equivalents, short-term investments, trade 
receivables and accounts payable, approximated their fair values due to their 
short-term maturities. At March 31, 2000, the estimated fair value of the 
Company's long-term debt approximated its carrying value, as a majority of the 
related borrowing rates are variable. 
 
Segment Reporting 
 
        Operating segments are determined consistent with the way that 
management organizes and evaluates financial information internally for making 
operating decisions and assessing performance. The Company operates in one 
segment. 
 
 
NOTE 2 -- COMPOSITION OF CERTAIN BALANCE SHEET CAPTIONS 
 
 
 
                                                           AS OF MARCH 31, 
                                                 ------------------------------- 
                                                      1999               2000 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                               
Cash and cash equivalents: 
  Investments in debt securities ..........      $  3,898,000       $ 16,648,000 
  Cash ....................................         2,107,000          2,872,000 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                 $  6,005,000       $ 19,520,000 
                                                 ============       ============ 
Accounts receivable: 
  Billed ..................................      $  7,765,000       $ 13,031,000 
  Unbilled ................................         8,411,000         13,237,000 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                 $ 16,176,000       $ 26,268,000 
                                                 ============       ============ 
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Inventory: 
  Raw materials ...........................      $    914,000       $  2,263,000 
  Work in process .........................         1,157,000            484,000 
  Finished goods ..........................           454,000            375,000 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                 $  2,525,000       $  3,122,000 
                                                 ============       ============ 
Property and equipment: 
  Machinery and equipment .................      $  9,249,000       $ 11,602,000 
  Computer equipment ......................         4,179,000          5,642,000 
  Furniture and fixtures ..................           326,000            877,000 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                   13,754,000         18,121,000 
  Less accumulated depreciation ...........        (7,124,000)        (9,957,000) 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                 $  6,630,000       $  8,164,000 
                                                 ============       ============ 
Accrued liabilities: 
  Current portion of warranty reserve .....      $  1,440,000       $    799,000 
  Accrued vacation ........................         1,143,000          1,188,000 
  Accrued bonus ...........................         1,195,000          1,004,000 
  Accrued 401(k) matching contribution ....           791,000            917,000 
  Income taxes payable ....................           694,000                 -- 
  Collections in excess of revenues .......           527,000            694,000 
  Other ...................................           237,000            399,000 
                                                 ------------       ------------ 
                                                 $  6,027,000       $  5,001,000 
                                                 ============       ============ 
 
 
 
NOTE 3 -- SHORT-TERM BANK BORROWINGS 
 
        The Company's credit facilities, including the line of credit and 
commitment for future equipment financing, expired on December 15, 1998. The 
Company has received a commitment from Union Bank of California and Washington 
Mutual Bank to provide a secured revolving credit facility of $25 million for 
general working capital. ViaSat is in the process of negotiating the terms of 
this commitment. 
 
NOTE 4 -- NOTES PAYABLE 
 
 
 
                                                                              AS OF MARCH 31, 
                                                                     ----------------------------- 
                                                                         1999              2000 
                                                                     -----------       ----------- 
                                                                                  
Bank installment loans, with various maturity dates through 
  September 2001, total monthly payments of $86,000 with 
  interest rates ranging between 8% and 9%, collateralized by 
  equipment ...................................................      $ 2,462,000       $ 1,243,000 
                                                                     -----------       ----------- 
Less current portion ..........................................       (1,219,000)         (907,000) 
                                                                     -----------       ----------- 
                                                                     $ 1,243,000       $   336,000 
                                                                     ===========       =========== 
 
 
        Principal maturities of notes payable as of March 31, 2000 are 
summarized as follows: 
 
 
 
YEAR ENDING MARCH 31, 
- --------------------- 
                            
        2001 ..........         907,000 
        2002 ..........         336,000 
                             ---------- 
                             $1,243,000 
                             ========== 
 
 
 
NOTE 5 -- COMMON STOCK AND OPTIONS 
 
        In July 1993, the Company adopted the 1993 Stock Option Plan (the 
"Plan") which authorizes 733,500 shares to be granted no later than July 2003. 
The Plan provides for the grant of both incentive stock options and 
non-qualified stock options which are subject to a three-year vesting period. 
The exercise prices of the options represent the estimated fair value of the 
Company's common stock as determined by the Company's Board of Directors. In 
November 1996, the Plan was terminated and replaced by the 1996 Equity 
Participation Plan. No options have been issued under the Plan since July 1996. 
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        In November 1996, the Company adopted the ViaSat, Inc. 1996 Equity 
Participation Plan (the "1996 Equity Participation Plan") designed to update and 
replace the 1993 Stock Option Plan. The 1996 Equity Participation Plan provides 
for the grant to executive officers, other key employees, consultants and non- 
employee directors of the Company a broad variety of stock-based compensation 
alternatives such as nonqualified stock options, incentive stock options, 
restricted stock and performance awards. A maximum of 1,250,000 shares are 
reserved for issuance under the 1996 Equity Participation Plan. As of March 31, 
2000, the Company had granted options to purchase 1,194,250 shares of common 
stock under this plan with vesting terms of 3 to 5 years. 
 
        In November 1996, the Company adopted the ViaSat, Inc. Employee Stock 
Purchase Plan (the "Employee Stock Purchase Plan") to assist employees in 
acquiring a stock ownership interest in the Company and to encourage them to 
remain in the employment of the Company. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan is 
intended to qualify under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. A maximum of 
500,000 shares of common stock are reserved for issuance under the Employee 
Stock Purchase Plan. The Employee Stock Purchase Plan permits eligible employees 
to purchase common stock at a discount through payroll deductions during 
specified six-month offering periods. No employee may purchase more than $25,000 
worth of stock in any calendar year. The price of shares purchased under the 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan is equal to 85% of the fair market value of the 
common stock on the first or last day of the offering period, whichever is 
lower. As of March 31, 2000, the Company has issued 153,353 shares of common 
stock under this plan. 
 
        Transactions under the Company's stock option plans are summarized as 
follows: 
 
 
 
                                                    NUMBER     EXERCISE PRICE 
                                                   OF SHARES      PER SHARE 
                                                  ----------    -------------- 
                                                          
      Outstanding at March 31, 1997...........       527,018      .34 - 10.75 
      Options granted.........................       269,450    12.25 - 19.81 
      Options canceled........................       (13,511)     .48 - 12.75 
      Options exercised.......................      (126,273)     .34 -  4.09 
                                                  ---------- 
      Outstanding at March 31, 1998...........       656,684      .34 - 19.81 
      Options granted.........................       324,000     7.38 - 17.08 
      Options canceled........................      (109,908)    1.36 - 15.53 
      Options exercised.......................       (60,480)     .34 - 14.13 
                                                  ---------- 
      Outstanding at March 31, 1999...........       810,296      .48 - 19.81 
      Options granted.........................       425,800     8.50 - 87.63 
      Options canceled........................       (32,471)    4.09 - 15.53 
      Options exercised.......................      (114,224)     .48 - 19.81 
                                                  ---------- 
      Outstanding at March 31, 2000...........     1,089,401     1.36 - 87.63 
                                                  ========== 
 
 
        The following table summarizes all options outstanding and exercisable 
by price range as of March 31, 2000: 
 
 
 
                                     WEIGHTED 
                                     AVERAGE        WEIGHTED                        WEIGHTED 
                                    REMAINING        AVERAGE                        AVERAGE 
      RANGE OF        NUMBER       CONTRACTUAL      EXERCISE          NUMBER        EXERCISE 
   EXERCISE PRICES  OUTSTANDING     LIFE-YEARS        PRICE         EXERCISABLE       PRICE 
   --------------   ----------      ----------      ----------      ----------      ---------- 
                                                                      
   $ 1.36 -  8.50      225,040            3.57      $     5.70         114,380      $     3.41 
     9.00 - 11.72      282,300            8.29           10.80          79,204           10.00 
    12.25 - 15.13      193,375            7.14           13.36          90,027           13.10 
    15.25 - 16.13      195,286            8.03           15.55          42,648           15.53 
    16.41 - 52.31      183,400            7.48           42.44          15,168           17.07 
    71.25 - 87.63       10,000            5.42           81.22               0            0.00 
                    ----------                                      ---------- 
     1.36 - 87.63    1,089,401            6.90           17.03         341,427            9.61 
                    ==========                                      ========== 
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NOTE 6 -- SHARES USED IN EARNINGS PER SHARE CALCULATIONS 
 
 
 
                                                                           YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                                  --------------------------------------- 
                                                                    1998           1999           2000 
                                                                  ---------      ---------      --------- 
                                                                                        
Weighted average common shares outstanding used 
   in calculating basic net income per share ...............      7,801,212      7,976,848      8,096,500 
Weighted average options to purchase common 
   stock as determined by application of the 
   treasury stock method ...................................        360,118        185,452        611,585 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan equivalents ...................         13,664         10,360          3,137 
                                                                  ---------      ---------      --------- 
Shares used in computing diluted net income per share ......      8,174,994      8,172,660      8,711,222 
                                                                  =========      =========      ========= 
 
 
        Antidilutive shares excluded from the calculation were 18,493, 420,735, 
and 30,420 shares for the fiscal years ended March 31, 1998, 1999, and 2000 
respectively. 
 
NOTE 7 -- PRO FORMA EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 
        The fair values of options granted during the years ended as reported 
below were estimated at the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with the following weighted average assumptions: 
 
 
 
                                         EMPLOYEE STOCK OPTIONS                   EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN 
                                  --------------------------------------       ----------------------------------- 
                                     1998          1999          2000           1998         1999            2000 
                                  ----------    ----------    ----------       -------    ----------       ------- 
                                                                                          
Expected life (in years) ...      3.50-5.50     3.50-5.00     4.99-5.00          0.50          0.50          0.50 
Risk-free interest rate ....      5.65-5.68%    4.46-5.42%         5.69%         5.54%    5.66-6.22%         5.55% 
Expected volatility ........          50.00%        50.00%        71.00%        50.00%        50.00%        71.00% 
Expected dividend yield ....           0.00%         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%         0.00%         0.00% 
 
 
 
        The weighted average estimated fair value of employee stock options 
granted during 1998, 1999, and 2000 was $6.30, $6.27, and $16.61 per share, 
respectively. The weighted average estimated fair value of shares granted under 
the Employee Stock Purchase Plan during 1998, 1999 and 2000 was $4.00, $4.00 and 
$5.43 per share, respectively. 
 
        For purposes of pro forma disclosures, the estimated fair value of 
options is amortized to expense over the vesting period. The Company's pro forma 
information for the years ended March 31, 1998, 1999 and 2000 are as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                              --------------------------------------------------- 
                                                   1998               1999               2000 
                                              -------------      -------------      ------------- 
                                                                            
Net income as reported .................      $   5,287,000      $   6,296,000      $   7,906,000 
Pro forma net income ...................          4,489,000          5,157,000          5,974,000 
Pro forma basic earnings per share .....               0.58               0.65               0.74 
Pro forma diluted earnings per share ...               0.56               0.65               0.70 
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NOTE 8 -- INCOME TAXES 
 
        The provision for income taxes includes the following: 
 
 
 
                                                                  YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                    ----------------------------------------------- 
                                                        1998              1999              2000 
                                                    -----------       -----------       ----------- 
                                                                                
Current tax provision 
     Federal .................................      $ 3,200,000       $ 3,977,000       $ 2,947,000 
     State ...................................          715,000           988,000           681,000 
                                                    -----------       -----------       ----------- 
                                                      3,915,000         4,965,000         3,628,000 
                                                    -----------       -----------       ----------- 
Deferred tax (benefit) provision 
     Federal .................................         (683,000)         (863,000)          680,000 
     State ...................................         (128,000)         (219,000)          163,000 
                                                    -----------       -----------       ----------- 
                                                       (811,000)       (1,082,000)          843,000 
                                                    -----------       -----------       ----------- 
          Total provision for income taxes ...      $ 3,104,000       $ 3,883,000       $ 4,471,000 
                                                    ===========       ===========       =========== 
 
 
 
        Significant components of the Company's deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are as follows: 
 
 
 
                                              AS OF MARCH 31, 
                                         -------------------------- 
                                            1999            2000 
                                         ----------      ---------- 
                                                    
Deferred tax assets: 
  Warranty reserve ................      $  706,000      $  418,000 
  Inventory .......................       1,377,000         820,000 
  Accrued vacation ................         396,000         374,000 
  State income taxes ..............         335,000         231,000 
  Depreciation ....................         186,000         307,000 
  Other ...........................         151,000         158,000 
                                         ----------      ---------- 
  Total deferred tax assets .......      $3,151,000      $2,308,000 
                                         ==========      ========== 
 
 
 
        A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes to the amount 
computed by applying the statutory federal income tax rate to income before 
income taxes is as follows: 
 
 
 
                                                                       YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 
                                                        ----------------------------------------------- 
                                                           1998              1999              2000 
                                                        -----------       -----------       ----------- 
                                                                                    
Tax expense at statutory rate ....................      $ 2,853,000       $ 3,461,000       $ 4,208,000 
State tax provision, net of federal benefit ......          388,000           507,000           558,000 
Research tax credit ..............................         (179,000)          (67,000)         (240,000) 
Other ............................................           42,000           (18,000)          (55,000) 
                                                        -----------       -----------       ----------- 
                                                        $ 3,104,000       $ 3,883,000       $ 4,471,000 
                                                        ===========       ===========       =========== 
 
 
 
NOTE 9 -- EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 
 
        The Company has a voluntary deferred compensation plan under Section 
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Company may make discretionary 
contributions to the plan which vest equally over six years. Employees who have 
completed 90 days of service and are at least 21 years of age are eligible to 
participate in the plan. Participants are entitled, upon termination or 
retirement, to their vested portion of the plan assets which are held by an 
independent trustee. Discretionary contributions accrued by the Company during 
fiscal years 1998, 1999 and 2000 amounted to $671,000, $791,000 and $917,000, 
respectively. The cost of administering the plan is not significant. 
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NOTE 10 -- COMMITMENTS 
 
        The Company leases office facilities under noncancelable operating 
leases with initial terms ranging from one to ten years which expire between 
June 2002 and December 2009. Certain of the Company's facilities leases contain 
option provisions which allow for extension of the lease terms. Rent expense, 
which is recognized on a straight-line basis, was $1,079,000, $1,312,000 and 
$1,939,000 in fiscal years 1998, 1999 and 2000, respectively. 
 
        Future minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 
 
 
        YEAR ENDING MARCH 31, 
        --------------------- 
                                                           
             2001..........................................  $    2,422,000 
             2002..........................................       2,390,000 
             2003..........................................       2,380,000 
             2004..........................................       2,380,000 
             2005..........................................       2,380,000 
             Thereafter....................................      11,106,000 
                                                             -------------- 
                                                             $   23,058,000 
                                                             ============== 
 
 
NOTE 11 -- CONTINGENCIES 
 
        The Company is currently a party to various government and commercial 
contracts which require the Company to meet performance covenants and project 
milestones. Under the terms of these contracts, failure by the Company to meet 
such performance covenants and milestones permit the other party to terminate 
the contract and, under certain circumstances, recover liquidated damages or 
other penalties. The Company is currently not in compliance (or in the past was 
not in compliance) with the performance or milestone requirements of certain of 
these contracts. Historically, the Company's customers have not elected to 
terminate such contracts or seek liquidated damages from the Company and 
management does not believe that its existing customers will do so; therefore, 
the Company has not accrued for any potential liquidated damages or penalties. 
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NOTE 12 -- SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
        On April 24, 2000, the Company completed a secondary stock offering for 
the sale of 2,612,075 shares of common stock for net proceeds of approximately 
$73,000,000. 
 
        On April, 25, 2000, the Company completed the acquisition of the 
satellite networks business (the "Satellite Networks Business") of 
Scientific-Atlanta, Inc. for an aggregate purchase price of approximately 
$59,000,000 in cash (including post-closing adjustments), plus warrants to 
purchase 50,000 shares of common stock valued at approximately $1,215,000. 
 
        The Satellite Networks Business is a significant DAMA-based VSAT 
supplier with additional product lines addressing the non-DAMA VSAT market, the 
gateway market, the asset tracking and meter reading market, and the telemetry 
and antenna systems market. In addition, the Satellite Networks Business brings 
the Company a larger and more experienced commercial sales force, a significant 
customer base, additional research and development, and engineering 
capabilities. The Company has moved the headquarters of our commercial business 
to the Satellite Networks Business facilities in Norcross, Georgia. 
 
        The acquisition will be accounted for by the purchase method of 
accounting as defined in APB Opinion No. 16. Under purchase accounting, the 
total purchase price will be allocated to the tangible and intangible assets and 
liabilities of the Satellite Networks Business based on valuations and other 
studies which are not yet available. We have not made a final determination as 
to the value of the Satellite Networks Business's in-process research and 
development, if any. To the extent that a portion of the purchase price would be 
allocated to in-process research and development, generally accepted accounting 
principles would require that this amount be written off as a one-time charge to 
operations. Consequently, the amounts reflected in the pro forma financial 
statements are subject to change, and the final amounts may differ 
significantly. 
 
        The following unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial 
information give effect to the acquisition as of April 1, 1999. Because the 
Satellite Networks Business has been operated as a division of 
Scientific-Atlanta, its results may not reflect those that would have resulted 
had it operated as an independent or as a part of ViaSat. The pro forma 
information does not reflect (1) the effects of the anticipated post-acquisition 
cost savings or restructuring efficiencies or (2) any interest income 
attributable to the net cash proceeds of this offering not utilized for the 
acquisition. When reviewing the following pro forma information, you should note 
that: 
 
- -   The pro forma condensed combined financial information combines ViaSat's 
    income statement for its fiscal year ended March 31, 2000 with the Satellite 
    Network Business' unaudited income statement for the twelve months ended 
    March 31, 2000. 
 
 
 
                                                 Year Ended 
                                               March 31, 2000 
(in thousands, except per share data)           (unaudited) 
                                                ----------- 
                                              
Revenues....................................    $   162,280 
Net Income..................................          1,270 
Earnings per share 
  Basic.....................................    $       .12 
  Diluted...................................    $       .11 
Weighted average number of shares* 
  Basic.....................................     10,708,575 
  Diluted...................................     11,323,297 
 
 
 
*   The weighted average number of shares include the 2,612,075 shares issued in 
    the secondary stock offering. 
 
The unaudited pro forma financial information presented is not necessarily 
indicative of either the results of operations that would have occurred had the 
acquisition taken place on April 1, 1999 or the future results of operations of 
the combined entities. 
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                                                                     SCHEDULE II 
 
                        VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS 
                    FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED MARCH 31, 2000 
 
 
 
                                                                  ALLOWANCE 
                                                                 FOR WARRANTY 
DATE                                                                COSTS 
- ----                                                            ------------- 
                                                              
Balance, March 31, 1997.......................................   $ 1,316,000 
         Provision............................................     1,048,000 
         Write-off............................................      (510,000) 
                                                                 ----------- 
Balance, March 31, 1998.......................................     1,854,000 
         Provision............................................       624,000 
         Write-off............................................      (707,000) 
                                                                 ----------- 
Balance, March 31, 1999.......................................     1,771,000 
         Provision............................................        66,000 
         Write-off............................................      (788,000) 
                                                                 ----------- 
Balance, March 31, 2000                                          $ 1,049,000 
                                                                 =========== 
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                                                                   EXHIBIT 10.23 
 
                                     LEASE 
 
        Lease made this 28th day of June, 1999 by and between NAGOG DEVELOPMENT 
COMPANY, a Massachusetts limited partnership, with a principal place of business 
at One Nagog Park, Acton, Massachusetts, hereinafter referred to as "Landlord", 
which expression shall include its successors and assigns where the context so 
admits of the one part, and VIASAT, INC., a California corporation, with a 
principal place of business at 2290 Cosmos Court, Carlsbad, California 92009, 
hereinafter referred to as "Tenant", which expression shall include its 
successors and assigns where the context so admits of the other part. 
 
                                   WITNESSETH 
 
        1. PREMISES. Landlord hereby leases and demises to the Tenant and the 
Tenant does hereby hire and take from the Landlord those premises consisting of 
2,240 square feet, more or less, of rentable area on the third floor of the 
building at 125 Nagog Park, Acton, Massachusetts, 01720, shown outlined in red 
on a sketch attached hereto and marked Exhibit A, together with all rights and 
appurtenances thereto belonging, herein "Demised Premises". This lease is made 
subject to all rights, easements, restrictions and agreements of record, if any, 
insofar as now in force and applicable, and local zoning and building laws. 
 
        Tenant shall have the right to use in common with Landlord and others 
lawfully entitled thereto, the lobby, rest rooms, loading areas, stairways, 
sidewalks, parking areas and access ways to the building, herein referred to as 
"Common Areas". Included within Tenant's rights to use the Common Areas shall be 
its right to use its pro rata share of parking spaces. Landlord reserves the 
right to assign particular spaces in the parking areas to particular tenants. 
 
        2. TERM. To have and to hold the Demised Premises for a term of three 
(3) years. Said term shall commence on July 1, 1999 and terminate on June 30, 
2002. 
 
        3. RENT. Yielding and paying therefor as rent the sum of Forty-One 
Thousand, Four Hundred Forty and 00/100 ($41,440.00) Dollars per annum payable 
in equal monthly installments of Three Thousand, Four Hundred Fifty-Three and 
33/100 ($3,453.33) Dollars due in each case on the first day of each month in 
advance, the first such payment to be made herewith. If the 
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said term commences or terminates on a day other than the first day of any 
month, said rent shall be equitably apportioned. 
 
        The Landlord may collect a "late charge" not to exceed three percent 
(3%) of any installment unpaid for ten (10) days after the due date. This right 
is in addition to and not in lieu of any other remedies the Landlord may have by 
law or as provided in this Lease. 
 
        4. TAXES AND COMMON AREA CHARGES. Tenant agrees to pay as additional 
rent its pro rata share of any and all increases over the Base Real Estate Taxes 
of such taxes, including any charges hereafter levied in lieu of, in 
substitution for or in addition to such real estate taxes as now constituted and 
all assessments, including betterments, levied or assessed against the property 
of which the Demised Premises are a part. Said tax payments shall be equitably 
apportioned for any portion of a year at the beginning or end of the term 
hereof. The same shall be additional rent. Tenant shall make equal monthly 
payments on account of such taxes to be held by Landlord equal to one-twelfth of 
the taxes imposed upon the property of which the Demised Premises are a part for 
the prior tax year. Upon determination of the actual taxes, Tenant shall within 
ten (10) days after presentation of a bill therefor from Landlord pay its pro 
rata share of any excess required and conversely if Tenant shall have paid on 
account in monthly installments more than its share such excess shall be 
credited against tax payments then or thereafter accruing. 
 
        Tenant shall pay as additional rent its pro rata share of increases in 
any and all reasonable charges incurred by the Landlord over the Base Common 
Area Maintenance Cost in connection with the maintenance, management, repair and 
operation of the Common Areas, including, but without limitation, maintenance 
and repairs, landscaping, snow removal and plowing, cleaning, lighting and 
rubbish removal to which shall be added fifteen percent (15%) for Landlord's 
supervision, record keeping and related overhead (the "Common Area Maintenance 
Costs"). Tenant shall pay all Common Area Maintenance Costs solely attributable 
to it. Tenant shall make equal monthly payments on account of Common Area 
charges based upon Landlord's good faith estimate of such amount and at the 
expiration of each calendar year during the term hereof Landlord shall advise 
Tenant of any deficiency or overpayment and an accounting between the parties 
shall be had. 
 
        Tenant's pro rata share for all purposes during the term of this Lease 
will be determined by the following formula: 
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                    Tenant's share =     2,240 
                                        ------ 
                                        73,538 
 
        Base Real Estate Taxes are $1.01 per square foot and Base Common Area 
Maintenance Costs are $1.30 per square foot. 
 
        5. RULES AND REGULATIONS. The Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, 
promptly comply with all laws, ordinances, orders, regulations and rules of any 
duly constituted governmental authority and/or Board of Fire Underwriters or 
similar organization having jurisdiction thereof relating to the Demised 
Premises or their use, provided, however, that Tenant shall not be required to 
make structural alterations to the Demised Premises unless the same are due 
specifically to its use. 
 
        6. TENANT IMPROVEMENTS. Landlord and Tenant shall do that work set forth 
on the Work Letter, attached hereto as Exhibit B, attributable to them in a good 
and workmanlike manner in full compliance with all applicable laws and in 
compliance with plans and specifications therefor. Upon completion of Landlord's 
work, Tenant shall cause the same to be inspected and any item of defective 
workmanship or material observed by Tenant shall be reported to Landlord within 
thirty (30) days after the Commencement Date. 
 
        Except for the work to be done by Landlord contained in the Work Letter, 
if any, Tenant accepts the Demised Premises in their present condition and 
acknowledges that no representations or warranties have been made by or on 
behalf of the Landlord with respect to the Demised Premises, their fitness or 
availability for any particular purpose or otherwise. 
 
        7. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Tenant shall have no right to assign this 
Lease, or sublet or license the whole or any part of the Demised Premises 
without the express written consent of the Landlord having been obtained in each 
instance, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld. A transfer of any 
controlling share of the capital stock of a corporate tenant, alone, or on the 
aggregate shall be deemed to be an assignment of this Lease. In the event the 
Landlord consents to an assignment or sublet, the Tenant shall not be released 
from its obligations under this Lease and shall remain primarily liable 
hereunder. Consent by Landlord to any assignment or sublet does not relieve 
Tenant from obtaining Landlord's consent to any further assignment or sublet. 
 
        8. REPAIRS. Except as provided in the next paragraph, during the term of 
this Lease, the Tenant shall keep and maintain the Demised Premises and the 
appurtenances thereto in good order and repair in all 
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respects, reasonable wear and use, based upon good maintenance practices, damage 
by fire or other unavoidable casualty only excepted. 
 
        It is understood and agreed that the Landlord is not responsible for 
making any repairs whatsoever to the Demised Premises, except that Landlord 
shall make necessary repairs to the roof, foundation, building systems 
(including the heating, ventilating and air conditioning systems) and exterior 
walls (but not glass, doors or windows), unless such repairs are required 
because of any act, neglect or default of Tenant, or anyone claiming by, through 
or under Tenant or for whom Tenant is responsible. 
 
        Tenant shall pay its pro rata share of Landlord's cost to make such 
repairs which cost is included in Common Area Maintenance Costs, provided that 
if any such repair shall be due wholly to Tenant's act, omission, default or 
neglect, then Tenant shall pay the entire cost of such repair. Any such capital 
costs will be amortized over the useful life of the repair based on generally 
accepted accounting principles. 
 
        Landlord furthermore shall make all necessary repairs to the Common 
Areas and shall maintain all landscaping in a reasonably neat and attractive 
manner, plow snow and generally keep the improved portion of the land upon which 
the Demised Premises are located in a reasonably neat condition, and provide 
lighting as and when required, all of which costs are included in Common Area 
Maintenance Costs. 
 
        9. UTILITIES. Included in the Base Rent are Base Utilities of $2.00 per 
annum per square foot. Base Utilities consist of separately metered electricity 
for lighting and wall outlets in the Demised Premises, Tenant's pro rata share 
of water and sewer charges and Tenant's pro rata share of the electricity for 
Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning, not separately metered for the 
Demised Premises. 
 
        Tenant agrees to pay as additional rent its pro rata share of all 
increases over the Base Utilities. Tenant shall make equal monthly payments on 
account of Base Utilities charges based upon Landlord's good faith estimate of 
such amount and at the expiration of each calendar year during the term hereof 
Landlord shall advise Tenant of the actual Utilities costs. Upon determination 
of the actual costs, Tenant shall within ten (10) days after presentation of a 
bill therefor from Landlord pay its pro rata share of any excess required and 
conversely if Tenant shall have paid on account in monthly installments more 
than its share such excess shall be credited against rent payments then or 
thereafter accruing. 
 
        In the event of an interruption of any or all such services, this lease 
shall not become void or voidable unless such failure continues for thirty (30) 
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days, in which case Tenant may terminate this Lease upon five (5) days written 
notice to the Landlord. Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for the 
interruption of any such services, unless the interruption is a result of 
Landlord's negligence. 
 
        10. ALTERATIONS, ADDITIONS AND SIGNS. The Tenant shall have the right to 
make non-structural alterations, additions and improvements to the Demised 
Premises as it may deem necessary or desirable for its business, but shall have 
no right to make structural alterations, additions and improvements to the 
Demised Premises (with the exception of the satellite dish) without prior 
written consent of the Landlord in each instance, which consent shall not be 
unreasonably withheld. Any such improvements (with the exception of the 
satellite dish) shall remain upon and be surrendered with the Demised Premises 
upon the expiration or other termination of the Lease, unless Landlord elects 
otherwise. Should Landlord elect to relinquish Landlord's right to the 
improvements, Tenant shall remove such improvements, including the satellite 
dish, and repair any damage caused by said removal. 
 
        All structural alterations, additions and improvements to the Demised 
Premises made by the Tenant and all signs erected by Tenant shall be made or 
erected only after plans and specifications therefor have been submitted to the 
Landlord and approved by the Landlord, and provided further that all such 
alterations, additions and improvements and all such signs shall be made in a 
good and workmanlike manner in all respects and in full compliance with all 
laws, rules, regulations and ordinances of any duly constituted governmental 
authority and in compliance with the recommendations of any Board of Fire 
Underwriters or any similar organization having jurisdiction of the premises. 
 
        All additions, improvements and signs shall be at the sole cost and 
expense of the Tenant and no part thereof shall be borne by the Landlord. 
 
        11. INDEMNIFICATION. The Tenant shall hold harmless and indemnify the 
Landlord of and from any and all claims for injury to person and damage to 
property by reason of any accident or happening on or about the Demised 
Premises. The Tenant shall carry public liability insurance in limits of at 
least $1,000,000 for injury or death to person and $100,000 for damage to 
property. Tenant shall furnish Landlord with certificates showing the existence 
of said insurance prior to possession by Tenant. Landlord shall be named as an 
insured on such insurance policies. Each policy must furthermore provide that 
insurance may not be canceled without 15 days written notice to Landlord. 
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        12. EXPIRATION OF TERM. Upon the expiration of the term hereof, or at 
any prior termination hereof as herein provided, the Tenant shall peaceably 
yield up the Demised Premises and all additions, improvements and alterations 
made thereto or thereupon broom clean, free of all rubbish, debris and personal 
property and in good order, condition and repair in all respects, reasonable 
wear and use, based upon good maintenance practices, and damage by fire and 
unavoidable casualty only excepted. 
 
        The Tenant shall have the right at the expiration of the term hereof, if 
it shall not be in default hereunder, to remove its trade fixtures from the 
Demised Premises, provided that such removal may be accomplished without any 
damage to the Demised Premises or that any damage is repaired and the premises 
restored to its original condition and provided further that Tenant shall pay 
rent at the minimum rate for the period ending five (5) days after said property 
shall have been removed. Any such property not removed within thirty (30) days 
after the expiration or termination of this lease shall, at the express written 
election of Landlord, be deemed to have become Landlord's property. 
 
        13. CARE OF PREMISES. Tenant shall keep the Demised Premises clean and 
regularly remove its waste and debris from the Demised Premises and not allow 
the same to accumulate thereon, Tenant agrees that it will not permit any 
caustic or corrosive or otherwise detrimental or hazardous fluids or materials 
to be disposed of into the drainage or sewer systems serving the building of 
which the Demised Premises are a part, nor shall Tenant store any hazardous 
materials or chemicals on site without having first obtained all necessary 
licenses, permits and approvals. 
 
        14. TENANT'S RISK. The Landlord shall not be responsible for any damage 
to property in the Demised Premises, all of which shall be at the sole risk of 
Tenant, nor for injury to person, whether caused by water, steam, gas or 
electricity, or by any breakage, leakage or obstruction of oil pipes, conduits 
or plumbing, nor from any other source, nor for loss of property by theft or 
otherwise, unless caused by Landlord's negligence. 
 
        15. LANDLORD'S ACCESS. A. Tenant agrees that Landlord may come upon the 
Demised Premises at reasonable hours upon reasonable notice, for the purpose of 
inspecting the same; making repairs, without any obligation to do so; and for 
any other purpose necessary or desirable to enforce the Landlord's rights 
hereunder or to protect the Landlord's interest hereunder and during the last 
six (6) months of the term hereof to show the same to prospective purchasers and 
tenants. 
 
        B. Landlord shall have the right during the last three (3) months of the 
term hereof to place the usual "For Rent" or "For sale" signs upon the 
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Demised Premises, provided, however, that it shall not have the right to place 
them in any display windows or upon any doors of the Demised Premises. 
 
        C. Landlord may from time to time introduce, maintain, locate and 
relocate conduits, pipes, wires and other matters necessary or desirable in 
connection with the operation of the building and/or any other tenant therein, 
provided that Landlord shall not thereby unreasonably interfere with the use of 
the Demised Premises by Tenant. 
 
        D. For each of the aforesaid purposes, Landlord shall provide Tenant 
with a twenty-four hours notice prior to entering premises at which time an 
escort may be required in designated areas. Landlord has the right to use any 
and all means which Landlord may deem proper to come upon the Demised Premises 
in an emergency. 
 
        16. HOLDING OVER. In the event that the Tenant or anyone claiming by, 
through or under the Tenant shall remain on the Demised Premises after the 
termination of this Lease, or any renewals, extensions or modifications thereof, 
it shall be deemed to be a tenancy from month to month, subject to all the terms 
and conditions hereof as may be applicable, except that the rent shall be at one 
and one-half times the rate herein stipulated. 
 
        17. MECHANIC'S LIEN. Notice is hereby given that the Landlord shall not 
be liable for any labor or materials furnished to the Tenant upon credit and 
that no mechanic's lien or other lien for any such labor or materials shall 
attach to or affect the reversionary or other estate or interest of the Landlord 
in and to the Demised Premises. The Tenant further agrees to indemnify the 
Landlord against any and all costs, damages and expenses it may suffer on 
account of the same. Tenant shall cause the same to be removed or dissolved by 
bond. 
 
        18. INSURANCE RATE. Tenant agrees that it will bring nothing upon the 
Demised Premises, nor use the Demised Premises in such a way as to cause to be 
void or voidable any policy of insurance affecting the Demised Premises, and 
further agrees that it will pay to the Landlord the increased cost of any of 
Landlord's insurance which may be due to the use of the Demised Premises other 
than for the purpose herein demised. 
 
        19. FIRE, DAMAGE AND TAKING. If the Demised Premises or the building of 
which they are a part, shall be destroyed or damaged by fire or other casualty, 
or taken by eminent domain, Landlord shall have the right to terminate this 
Lease by notice to that effect to the Tenant within thirty (30) days after such 
damage, destruction or taking. 
 
 
                                       7 



   8 
        If all or substantially all of the Demised Premises shall be destroyed 
or damaged by fire or other casualty such that in the Landlord's opinion the 
building cannot be restored within 90 days, Tenant shall have the right to 
terminate this lease by notice to that effect to the Landlord within 30 days of 
notice from Landlord of such damage or destruction. 
 
        If this Lease be not so terminated, Landlord shall restore the said 
building and the Demised Premises as soon as reasonably possible, taking into 
account the time necessary to settle and obtain insurance proceeds, to the same 
condition as the Demised Premises, or what may remain thereof, were in 
immediately prior to such damage, destruction or taking. 
 
        Landlord shall in no event be obligated to restore any improvements made 
to the Demised Premises by Tenant. Upon notification from Landlord to Tenant 
that Landlord has restored the Demised Premises to the condition aforesaid, 
Tenant shall promptly undertake to resume occupancy and use the Demised Premises 
if the same shall have been interrupted. Tenant shall make such restorations of 
its own improvements as Tenant may elect to do. 
 
        Any and all awards made for any taking or any injury resulting in direct 
or consequential damages are the sole and exclusive property of Landlord and no 
part thereof shall be paid to Tenant. Tenant may, however, apply for and retain 
any award made especially for moving expenses or personal property. 
 
        In the event of any such damage, destruction or taking there shall be an 
abatement of rent according to the nature and extent of the injury suffered 
until the premises shall have been restored. 
 
        20. DEFAULT. If the Tenant shall neglect or fail to perform or observe 
any of the covenants, conditions or obligations on the part of the Tenant herein 
contained or observed; or if any petition shall be filed by or against Tenant 
under any Bankruptcy or Insolvency Law, now or hereinafter enacted, State or 
Federal; or if the estate hereby created shall be attached or taken by legal 
process; or if the Tenant shall make an assignment for the benefit of its 
creditors by way of trust mortgage, judicial proceedings, or otherwise; or if a 
receiver, trustee or similar officer shall be appointed to take charge of any 
part of the Tenant's property; then and in any of such events notwithstanding 
any waiver or license of any former breach and without prejudice to any other 
remedy which the Landlord may have for arrears of rent or otherwise, Landlord 
may, without demand or notice, enter into and upon the Demised Premises, or any 
part thereof, in the name of the whole, and repossess the same as of its former 
estate, and expel the Tenant and those claiming by, through or under it, and 
remove its or their goods and 
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effects, forcibly if necessary, and may store the same in the name and at the 
expense of the Tenant, and upon entry as aforesaid this Lease shall terminate. 
Such entry may be effected by written notice to Tenant to the same effect as 
actual entry for breach of condition. In the event of such termination, the 
Tenant covenants and agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Landlord from and 
against any and all loss of rent, damages and other expenses, including 
reasonable attorneys' fees, brokerage, and costs of reletting incurred by the 
Landlord by reason of such termination, from time to time, upon demand of the 
Landlord. The Tenant further agrees that it will, upon demand, pay to the 
Landlord in the event of such termination a sum equal to the amount by which the 
rent and other charges herein reserved for the balance of the term hereinabove 
specified exceeds the fair market rental value of the Demised Premises for the 
balance of said term. Credit shall be given to the liability of Tenant to 
indemnify Landlord under this paragraph 20 for any payments made under the 
preceding sentence. 
 
        Prior to termination of this Lease by Landlord by reason of Tenant's 
default, Landlord shall give Tenant ten (10) days written notice with respect to 
any payment of money and fifteen (15) days written notice in all other events, 
provided that if by reason of the nature of the default the same cannot be 
reasonably cured within said fifteen (15) day period, Tenant shall not be deemed 
in default, if Tenant shall commence the cure within said fifteen (15) day 
period and proceed diligently thereafter to completion. 
 
        21. FIRE INSURANCE. The Landlord shall throughout the term of this Lease 
provide and maintain fire insurance in an amount of not less than the full 
replacement value of the building of which the Demised Premises are a part. Said 
policies shall contain a so-called rent insurance endorsement providing Landlord 
with not less than twelve (12) months rent in the event of damage, destruction 
or taking. Tenant shall pay its pro rata share of the cost of all insurance 
carried by Landlord with respect to the premises of which the Demised Premises 
are a part which cost is included in the Common Area Maintenance Costs. 
 
        22. USE. The Demised Premises are to be used and occupied only for 
conduct therein of Tenant's business, which consists of corporate offices and 
related facilities, and for no other purpose or purposes whatsoever. 
 
        23. RELEASE OF SUBROGATION. Each of Landlord and Tenant hereby releases 
the other from any and all liability or responsibility to the other (or anyone 
claiming through or under them by way of subrogation or otherwise) for any loss 
or damage to property caused by fire or any of the extended coverage of 
supplementary contract casualty or casualties insured against by said party, 
even if such fire or other casualty shall have been 
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caused by default or negligence of the other party, or anyone for whom such 
party shall be responsible, provided, however, that this release shall be 
applicable and in force and effect only with respect to loss or damage occurring 
during such time as the releasor's policies shall contain a clause or 
endorsement to the effect that any such release shall not adversely affect or 
impair said policies or prejudice the right of the releasor to recover 
thereunder. Each of Landlord and Tenant agree that their policies shall include 
such a clause or endorsement so long as the same shall be obtainable without 
extra cost, and if extra cost shall be charged therefor, so long as the other 
party pays such extra cost. If extra cost shall be chargeable therefor, each 
party shall advise the other thereof of the amount of the extra cost and the 
other party, at its election, shall pay the same but shall not be obligated so 
to do. 
 
        24. NOTICE CLAUSE. Any notices required to be given under the terms 
hereof shall be given by 1) mailing said notice by certified mail, return 
receipt requested, postage paid, 2) hand delivery or 3) if sent by electronic 
mail or facsimile transmission (with receipt confirmed), and shall be deemed 
given on the date of mailing if mailed or if delivered or faxed on date of 
delivery or transmission. Notices to the Landlord, at the last address at which 
rent was paid, and if to the Tenant, at the principal office of the Tenant, or 
such other place as either may designate from time to time in writing. 
 
        25. WAIVER. One or more waivers of the breach of any covenant or 
condition by either party shall not be construed as a waiver of a further breach 
of the same covenant or condition. 
 
        26. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This instrument contains the entire and only 
agreement between the parties, and no oral statements or representations or 
prior written matter not contained in this instrument shall have any force and 
effect. 
 
        27. PARAGRAPH HEADINGS. The paragraph headings used herein are used only 
as a matter of convenience for reference and are not to be considered part of 
this Lease, or to be used in determining the intent of the parties of this 
Lease. 
 
        28. STATUS OF LANDLORD. The Landlord shall be liable hereunder only so 
long as it shall be seized of the property hereby demised. No fiduciary or 
beneficiary or Partner, general or limited, of the Landlord named herein shall 
ever be personally or individually liable for the obligations of the Landlord. 
Tenant agrees to look solely to the real estate of which the Demised Premises 
are a part for satisfaction of any claim; provided 
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that the Landlord named herein may be named as a defendant in order to obtain 
jurisdiction. 
 
        29. NO BROKER. The Tenant warrants and represents that no broker or 
agent was instrumental in connection with this lease transaction and covenants 
to hold the Landlord harmless and indemnified from and against any claim made by 
any broker in connection herewith. 
 
        30. SUBORDINATION. At the election of Landlord, which election may be 
changed from time to time, this Lease shall be subject and subordinate, or prior 
and superior to any mortgage now or hereafter placed upon the real estate of 
which the Demised Premises are a part; provided that with respect to each 
subsequent mortgage to which this Lease shall be made subject and subordinate, 
the mortgage must agree that, in the event of foreclosure, Tenant shall not be 
disturbed in its possession except in accordance with the terms of this Lease. 
Tenant agrees at the request of such mortgagee or any purchaser at foreclosure 
sale, to attorn. 
 
        31. SELF HELP. If Tenant shall fail to perform or observe any of its 
obligations under this Lease after written notice of the requirement therefor by 
Landlord, Landlord may, at its election, without any obligation to do so perform 
such obligation for the account of the Tenant, and Tenant shall forthwith upon 
demand reimburse Landlord for the cost of such performance, together with 
interest at the rate of 12% per annum until paid. In the event of emergency, 
Landlord may undertake such action without written notice but after using 
reasonable efforts to notify Tenant by telephone or otherwise. 
 
        32. SECURITY DEPOSIT. Tenant shall deposit with Landlord upon the 
execution of this Lease, the sum of Three Thousand, Four Hundred Fifty-Three and 
33/100 ($3,453.33) Dollars as security deposit hereunder. Landlord shall not be 
obligated to pay interest on said sum or to segregate the same, nor shall 
Landlord be obligated to use said sum, or any part thereof, to cure any default 
of Tenant. At the expiration or prior termination of this Lease upon Tenant 
vacating the Demised Premises in the condition required under this Lease, and 
fully performing its obligations herein, Landlord shall, within thirty (30) days 
thereafter, return said security deposit, or such part thereof as may remain, to 
Tenant. In the event that during the term of this Lease Landlord shall use all 
or any part of said security deposit to cure any default on the part of Tenant, 
Tenant shall forthwith, upon demand, replenish said security deposit so that the 
same is always kept at the required amount. 
 
        33. SATELLITE DISH. For additional rent of $100.00 per month, Tenant 
shall have the right to install and maintain a five meter satellite dish on the 
loading dock roof. 
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        Tenant shall be entitled to maintain such satellite dish, contingent 
upon the following terms: 
 
        -Tenant will secure adequate liability insurance; 
 
        -Tenant will enter into agreements necessary with Landlord or Landlord's 
         roofer to protect Landlord's roof warranty; 
 
        -Tenant shall assume all liability in connection with the satellite dish 
         and assume all costs of maintaining said satellite dish; 
 
        -Landlord shall not withhold access to the satellite dish unreasonably. 
 
        At the expiration of the Lease, Tenant shall have the right to remove 
said satellite dish and shall return the roof of the loading dock as close to 
its original condition as reasonably possible. 
 
        34. AUDIT RIGHTS. Landlord shall at all times keep proper books of 
record and accounts in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles 
and practices, applied on a consistent basis, in which full, true and accurate 
entries shall be made of all Operating Costs for each base year. Landlord shall 
permit Tenant and Tenant's agent, at Tenant's expense, by appointment and during 
normal business hours, to review Landlord's records, books and accounts of the 
Building and any audited statements thereof relating to the Operating Costs for 
such base year for the purpose of verifying Operating Costs and any accounting 
which Landlord is required to provide hereunder. Any such audit by Tenant shall 
occur no more frequently than one time per year, shall be limited to a review of 
the then pertinent base year and shall be requested within thirty (30) days of 
the Tenant's receipt of an invoice requesting payment of Tenant's pro rata share 
of Operating Costs. 
 
        Audit rights raised after such thirty (30) day period shall be deemed 
waived. Books of record shall be retained by Landlord for one year after 
Landlord delivers the accounting for the applicable base year, If the result of 
such audit demonstrates that the Tenant has been unfairly charged in accordance 
with generally accepted accounting principles, then Landlord shall make the 
appropriate credit adjustment. 
 
        36. HAZARDOUS MATERIALS. Neither Landlord nor Tenant shall at any time 
use, generate, store or dispose of, on, under or about the Demised Premises, the 
Building or parking areas or transport to or from the same any hazardous wastes, 
toxic substances or related material ("Hazardous Materials") or permit or allow 
any third party to do so, without compliance with all Regulations. Hazardous 
Materials shall include but shall not be limited to, substances defined as 
"hazardous substances" or "toxic substances" in the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C.A. 
Section 1802; the Resource 
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Conservation Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C.A. Section 6901, et. Seq.; or those 
substances defined as "hazardous wastes" in applicable codes in the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts and in the regulations adopted and publications promulgated to 
such codes. 
 
        36. OPTION TO EXTEND. Tenant at its option may extend the term of this 
Lease for an additional two year period upon the same terms and conditions as 
herein contained except as hereinafter provided by serving notice thereof upon 
the Landlord at least 180 days before the expiration of the term and upon the 
notice of said service, this Lease shall be extended upon all its terms and 
conditions for the extended term without the necessity of the execution of any 
further instrument or documents; provided however, that if at either the date of 
expiration of the original term of this Lease, or the date upon which Tenant 
exercises such option of renewal, Tenant is in default beyond any grace period 
herein provided in the performance of any of the terms or provisions of this 
Lease, the extension of the term shall become null and void at the election of 
the Landlord. Said extended term shall be upon the same terms, provisions and 
conditions herein contained, except that there shall be no further right of 
extension, and the annual rent during the extended term shall be at fair market 
rental. 
 
        IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have hereunto set their hands and seals 
this 28th day of June, 1999. 
 
                                            NAGOG DEVELOPMENT COMPANY 
 
                                            BY: /s/ KIRK WARE 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Kirk Ware 
                                               Managing General Partner 
 
                                            VIASAT, INC. 
 
                                            BY: /s/ GREGORY MONAHAN 
                                               --------------------------------- 
                                               Gregory Monahan 
                                               Chief Financial Officer 
 
                                               Hereunto Duly Authorized 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 21.1 
 
                                  VIASAT, INC. 
                                  SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 
 
NAME                                               JURISDICTION OF INCORPORATION 
- -------------------------------                    ----------------------------- 
                                                 
ViaSat Europe Limited                              United Kingdom 
ViaSat Australia Pty Limited                       Australia 
ViaSat, Inc. Limitada                              Chile 
ViaSat Canada Company                              Canada 
ViaSat Worldwide Limited                           Delaware 
ViaSat China Services, Inc.                        Delaware 
ViaSat Foreign Sales Corporation                   Barbados 
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                                                                    EXHIBIT 23.1 
 
 
                       CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS 
 
We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration 
Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-21113, 333-68757 and 333-40396) of ViaSat, Inc. 
of our report dated May 16, 2000, relating to the financial statements and 
financial statement schedule which appear in this Form 10-K. 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
 
San Diego, California 
June 28, 2000 
 
 



   
 
 5 
 1,000 
 
                              
                   YEAR 
                          MAR-31-2000 
                             APR-01-1999 
                               MAR-31-2000 
                                          19,520 
                                       121 
                                   26,268 
                                         0 
                                      3,122 
                                53,011 
                                          18,121 
                                   9,957 
                                   8,164 
                           14,842 
                                              0 
                                0 
                                          0 
                                         1,000 
                                      18,933 
                    61,930 
                                         75,880 
                                75,880 
                                           45,557 
                                   45,557 
                                18,859 
                                     0 
                                 157 
                                 11,464 
                                     4,471 
                              7,906 
                                       0 
                                      0 
                                            0 
                                     7,906 
                                        .98 
                                      .91 
 
 
 


